



# NEGOTIATED AGREEMENT between the TAHOMA SCHOOL DISTRICT and the TAHOMA EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

September 1, 2024 – August 31, 2026

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Preamble	1
Witnesseth	1
Article I – Decision-Making Process	2
A. Overview and Model	2
B. Decision-making Beliefs, Components, Assistance and Building Level Decisions	2
C. District Teaching and Learning Decisions	
D. School Improvement Plans (Site Plans)	6
E. Educator Leadership	
F. District Budget Preparation	
G. Employee Surveys	
Article II – Contract Terms	8
A. Salary Schedules	8
B. Standard Employment Contract	9
C. Additional Days/Hours	
D. Professional Learning and Enrichment (PLE) Contract	
E. Workday, Planning, Coverage and Closures	
F. Additional Assignments and Responsibilities	
G. Insurance Benefits	
H. Staff Wellness Program	24
I. Pay Periods, Payroll Deductions, Withholding and Annuities	
J. Travel	
K. FTE Calculation	26
Article III – Leaves	28
A. Paid Leaves	28
B. Unpaid Leaves	31
C. Other Available Leaves	
D. Sick Leave Buy-Back, VEBA Plan Contributions, and Leave Sharing	32
Article IV – Employee Rights	34
A. Just Cause	34
B. Personnel Files	34
C. Assignment and Transfer	35
Article V – Working Conditions	
A. General Education Class Size and Special Education Workload	41
B. Student Discipline	45
C. Controversial Issues	46
D. Safety/Environment	47
E. Faculty Facilities	47
F. Liability, Assault or Injury	
G. Non-Discrimination	48

Article VI – Evaluation	49
A. Purpose of Evaluation	49
B. Provisions Applicable to All Employees	50
C. Provisions Applicable Only to Certificated Classroom Teachers (Both Comprel	nensive
and Focused)	
D. Provisions Applicable to Classroom Teachers on the Comprehensive Evaluation	n 52
E. Provisions Applicable to Classroom Teachers on the Focused Evaluation Mode	1 57
F. Provisions Applicable Only to Non-Classroom Staff on a Basic Evaluation Plan	ı (BEP) 58
G. Provisions Applicable Only to Non-Classroom Staff on a Professional Develop	ment Plan
(PDP)	60
H. Non-Probationary Plans of Assistance	61
I. Probation	62
	65
Article VII – Reduction in Force  A. General Provisions	
B. Definitions	
C. Seniority	
D. Selection for Layoff  E. Provisions for Re-Employment	
F. Provisions for Reduction of Employees (ROE) Leave	
F. Provisions for Reduction of Employees (ROE) Leave	09
Article VIII – Grievance Procedure	70
A. Definitions	70
B. Rights to Representation	70
C. Individual Rights	70
D. Procedure	71
E. Miscellaneous Provisions	72
Article IX – Terms of the Agreement	75
A. Recognition	
B. Gender	
C. Status of the Agreement	
D. Entire Agreement	
E. Conformity to Law	
F. Variance Requests	
G. Printing/Distribution	
H. Association Rights and Responsibilities	
I. No Strike/No Lock-Out	
J. Rights of the Board	78
K. Subcontracting	78
L. Duration and Commitment	
ADDENDA	90
Addendum 1: 2024-25 Salary Schedule	
Addendum 2: Activity Salary Schedules	
Addendum 3: Supplemental Contracts for District Leadership (Non-Indexed)	
Addendum 4: Supplemental Contracts for District Leadership (Indexed)	
reaction is supplemental Contracts for District Leadership (indexed)	

Addendum 5: Grievance Form	87
Addendum 6: Professional Goals Form – Comprehensive	88
Addendum 7: Professional Goals Form – Focused or PDP	
Addendum 8: Comprehensive Evaluation Form	90
Addendum 9: ESA Formal Observation Form	92
Addendum 10: ESA Evaluation Form	94
Addendum 11: Verification of Completion of One Year of PDP Form	96
Addendum 12: Verification of Completion of One Year on Focused	97
Addendum 13: Curriculum Review and Documentation Process	
Addendum 14: Decision-Making Matrix	99
Addendum 15: Career & Technical Education Extended Days	100
Addendum 16: Teaching & Learning Department Support Staff Extended Days	102
Letters of Agreement	103
2024-25 and 2025-26 Agreements	104
ESA Evaluation Review	105
Special Education Workload Provisions 2024-25	106

## **PREAMBLE**

This Agreement is entered into between the Tahoma School District Board of Directors, hereinafter referred to as the "District" or "Board," and the Tahoma Education Association, hereinafter referred to as the "Association."

## WITNESSETH

The Board and the Association recognize their mutual aim is to continue to maintain effective employer/employee relationships and to bargain pursuant to RCW 41.59. To that effect the parties have set forth the following agreements and understandings.

TAHOMA EDUCATION ASSOCIATION	TAHOMA SCHOOL DISTRICT
Callie a Nordell	Hinger Callism
Callie Nordell	Dr. Ginger Callison
TEA President	Superintendent
9/1/24	9/1/24
Date	Date

#### ARTICLE I – DECISION-MAKING PROCESS

## A. Overview and Model

#### 1. Overview

The Tahoma Education Association, Tahoma School District administration, and Tahoma School District Board of Directors (hereafter "we") believe in a collaborative approach for creating an environment where all students experience success. Critical to this success is implementation of aligned curriculum, instruction, and assessment practices for grades Pre-K through 12. To support consistent standards throughout the system, we are committed to developing a common curriculum based on District and state standards that includes implementation of best practices as identified in the CEL 5D+ instructional model. The building staff, with system support, has the responsibility to implement the curriculum using best instructional practices.

#### 2. Model

The parties are committed to a collaborative process for decision-making based on a consensus model. In consensus, consideration is given to all persons who are impacted by the decision. In this process, everyone in the group supports, agrees to, or can live with a particular decision. Each site is required to develop a decision-making matrix based on consensus including identifying:

- a. how decisions are made;
- b. by whom;
- c. when decisions are made; and
- d. a "most," the percentage used in reaching a final decision when complete agreement cannot be reached.

## B. Decision-making Beliefs, Components, Assistance and Building Level Decisions

## 1. Beliefs about Consensus

Consensus works best when:

- a. The parameters within which a decision will be made are identified;
- b. Those staff members identified as providing input and making decisions are actively engaged;
- c. Diversity is honored, encouraged, practiced and modeled;
- d. All required participants prioritize the time necessary to reach consensus;

- e. All required participants accept responsibility for the process including supporting, agreeing to or living with the group's decision; and
- f. Clearly articulated norms for group processing and structures for communicating decisions are established and implemented.

## 2. Components

Components of a building and District decision-making model shall include:

- a. A matrix identifying the process for final decisions and role of staff in building level decisions. Buildings shall use the format and required topics identified in Addendum 14 and have the autonomy, within the scope of the building's contractual and legal authority, to add topics through a consensus process;
- b. An annual review of the decision-making process and matrix by the whole staff including identification of potential changes to any decisions that do and do not require consensus by the staff;
- c. An annual submission of the building matrices to the Association and Human Resources no later than October 1;
- d. Identification of most, the percentage used in reaching a final decision when complete agreement cannot be reached;
- e. A written description of the responsibility representatives have for seeking input and communicating concerns and alternatives prior to a consensus decision, and for communicating results of the consensus decision to constituents;
- f. A review of contract language describing Tahoma's beliefs and components of effective decision-making processes as a regular part of the initial and final meeting of any new committee or a committee with changed membership;
- g. A process for involving and informing staff of decisions reached on matrix topics.

## 3. Consensus Training

Staff, with their principal, shall annually determine the training, coaching or other support necessary to successfully use a consensus based decision-making model. Requests for support will be submitted to the Director of Human Resources who will be responsible for development of a plan to meet the identified needs.

# C. District Teaching and Learning Decisions

#### 1. Belief

Teachers are the key to successful student learning in a system committed to providing the tools and experiences every student needs to create an individual, viable, and valued path to lifelong personal success. System level data used to monitor student success includes state and district assessments. We recognize the demand is high for teachers and because of this, the District is committed to high support to meet the needs of a high demand curriculum. We recognize that certain conditions advance successful learning. They include:

- a. Time and opportunity for students to learn;
- b. Minimizing disruptions to deliver quality classroom instruction;
- c. Small, manageable class sizes;
- d. Time for teacher and staff planning and collaboration;
- e. Sufficient resources; instructional, technology, staff, and leadership;
- f. Community and parent support and involvement;
- g. On-going professional development; and
- h. Teacher voice.

#### 2. Vision

- a. We recognize the need for a collaborative process between the Teaching and Learning Department and individual buildings to balance high support and high demand. This collaboration is focused on:
  - i. capitalizing on (taking advantage of) staff commitment and passion around shared aspirations;
  - ii. ensuring that demands placed on individual teachers and teams of teachers are reasonable; and
  - iii. providing support that results in increased growth and achievement for all students.
- b. The District and Association recognize and value the importance of teacher voice in developing courses and programs, designing curriculum, selecting resources, and planning for training to support student learning aligned to the District mission and vision. The Teaching and Learning Department will work collaboratively with content areas, grade levels, and cross grade level teams to create curriculum maps, unit overviews, pacing guides,

frameworks, lessons, and common assessments that integrate state and district standards.

## 3. Curriculum Implementation

- a. The District and Association agree that:
  - i. The district core curriculum must provide clear direction for teachers, consistent opportunities to learn for all students, and support the acquisition of 21<sup>st</sup> Century skills, as defined by our state and district standards;
  - ii. Through data-driven decisions, teachers personalize, scaffold, and differentiate lessons and materials to meet the diverse needs of students and promote growth and achievement of learning targets;
  - iii. Flexibility is embedded in classroom strategies that the teacher selects to promote acquisition of key concepts and skills; and
  - iv. Teachers use research-based instructional practices as defined by the Tahoma instructional model (CEL 5D+) as they make instructional strategy choices in a lesson or unit.
- b. To effectively implement the District mission and vision, the district will create structures and use strategies to ensure teacher voice in curriculum design, implementation, and evaluation. The following structures support this vision:
  - i. A cross-building team or teams of teacher leaders, administrators, and Teaching & Learning coaches will provide input annually on the district planning process;
  - ii. The Association shall be informed of and given the option of adding a representative to all mutually identified committees impacting the instruction system. These committees shall be identified at monthly Labor Management meetings;
  - iii. The Association will designate members to meet with District leaders of Teaching and Learning on a regular basis to review, monitor and provide input into District instructional decisions;
  - iv. Pacing guides and frameworks will reflect time allocations for differentiation, student assessment and building events;
  - v. After initial implementation, curriculum revisions will be guided by feedback from teacher teams and student growth and achievement data;

- vi. The District will use the curriculum documentation process in Addendum 13; and
- vii. The District and the Association shall review Section C, District Teaching and Learning Decisions, as a standing topic at each Labor Management meeting to monitor and ensure authentic implementation of this Section.

# 4. Professional Development

- a. We recognize the importance of providing professional development that is timely, relevant, and supportive of teachers in using new practices in the classroom, including implementation of state and District standards. The District is committed to teacher involvement in the planning process for inservice opportunities.
- b. To effectively implement the District mission and vision, the District will create structures and use strategies to ensure teacher voice in prioritizing professional development needs. The following structures support this vision:
  - i. Teachers in leadership roles shall seek input from the people they represent to help inform decisions that guide District directed professional development opportunities; and
  - ii. Teaching and Learning will work collaboratively with building leadership teams to identify priorities for staff training and support informing the school improvement plan for professional development. This structure encourages alignment of initiatives and new options to emerge for differentiated training and support based on teacher need and site plan priorities.
- c. The District highly values educator voice in implementing positive professional development experiences and maintaining school climate and culture that supports District vision and initiatives. Educators whose opinions are solicited will not be retaliated against for sharing feedback on these topics.
- d. To support opportunity and equity for all students with disabilities, the District shall offer professional development each school year on special education law.

## **D.** School Improvement Plans (Site Plans)

1. The District and Association agree that holding ourselves accountable to student growth and achievement is a core responsibility of school staff. Annual updates to the school improvement plan by the building leadership team (administration and

- teacher leaders) provide a structure for data driven evaluation of impact of support structures and monitoring progress toward school improvement plan goals.
- 2. Building school improvement plans provide a structure and framework for the district, building administrators, and building team leaders to set growth and achievement targets and identify action plans that align to the Board's targets. Annual updates to the school improvement plan by the building leadership team will be provided to the Board with a structure for evaluating and reporting the impact of support structures and monitoring building progress toward school improvement plan goals.

## E. Educator Leadership

The District and Association are committed to a collaborative model of educator leadership designed to influence the building culture and support best instructional practices to achieve the District mission and vision for all students. Leaders are expected to apply the knowledge, skills and tools learned to support teacher growth and increased student achievement. The focus of this work ensures alignment of support structures, professional learning, and resource allocation supported by research as necessary components of building leadership teams.

## F. District Budget Preparation

The Association will be provided an opportunity for input and involvement during the early stages of the District budget preparation in a similar manner to the opportunities given building sites and departments. At the Association's request, training will be provided to a cadre of Association representatives in estimating District revenue, the uniform account coding system, how expenditures are determined in providing a balanced budget, and how expenditures are tracked during the school year.

## G. Employee Surveys

Results of any District-wide or annual building surveys of employees will be shared with the Association President or designee. The Association President or designee may request and shall be provided results of any other surveys to the extent permitted by law. When possible, the District will work with the Association to develop District-wide or annual building surveys. When a survey seeks feedback about a specific department or position, the relevant employees in that department or position will receive prior notice of or be consulted in the construction of the survey.

#### ARTICLE II – CONTRACT TERMS

## A. Salary Schedules

- 1. The Association and the District hereby adopt the Salary Schedules in Addendum 1 for the 2024-25 school year. For the 2025-26 school year, the base salary schedule shall be adjusted by the inflationary adjustment index used by the state in revenue formulas for certificated instructional staff, currently the implicit price deflator (IPD) plus .55%. The PLE stipend is a percentage of the base salary schedule and adjusted accordingly.
- 2. Salary schedules and stipends may be reopened by the District or Association for negotiations in any of the following events: (1) the present salary limitations laws are voided as applied to the District by a final and binding court order; (2) the legislature, OSPI, or State Board add, remove or amend the present salary limitations as applicable to the District; (3) the legislature changes funding for salaries, including local revenue (such as levies); or (4) changes the manner and flexibility in which funding may be used, including local revenue (such as levies) and state funding for professional learning days. Insurance benefits may likewise be reopened by the District or Association in the event state benefit laws are voided, removed or eased.

## 3. CTE Work Experience

If an employee is granted leave of absence from this District for the purpose of obtaining work experience in order to qualify for a CTE teaching certificate to be used in this District, one (1) year of experience advancement shall be granted on the salary schedule.

## 4. Credit for Private Sector Experience: Educational Staff Associates

The calculation of years of service for all OSPI-recognized Educational Staff Associates (ESAs) may include experience in schools and other equivalent non-school positions consistent with regulations for placement on the salary schedules. The calculation shall be that one year of service in a non-school position counts as one year of service for salary placement.

5. Education and experience shall be credited under the rules applicable to the state salary allocation model in 2017-18, except as modified herein. Credits and verified experience applicable for placement on the District salary schedule must be earned by October 1 of the current school year and documented by official transcripts. It will be the responsibility of the individual employee to furnish the District with such documentation on or before October 1. Changes in employee placement on the salary schedule based on additional credits or degrees will be effective for the second half of the contract year if earned by February 1 and documented by official transcripts. It will be the responsibility of the individual employee to furnish the District such documentation on or before February 1 and request a review in writing to Human Resources for this mid-year change.

6. The substitute pay rate will be reviewed annually and subject to mutual agreement through Labor Management meetings.

## **B.** Standard Employment Contract

Staff members receive a base contract for 183 days of work performed during the scheduled workdays on the negotiated work year calendar. This work year calendar includes the 180 student school days, 3 additional workdays, and 21 additional PLE hours (3 days). If the district/principal requires employees to be present beyond the written contract, those who are required to attend shall be compensated on a true per diem rate. All employees shall fulfill their contracted number of days during the regular school calendar, unless otherwise agreed to between the employee and their supervisor. The annual school calendar and any modifications made to the school calendar once approved shall be subject to negotiations.

The job requirements for fulfilling basic professional responsibilities are as follows by performing self-directed and scheduled work outside of the traditional workday.

## 1. Plan & Prepare

- a. Plan for and deliver or support quality instruction for students
- b. Plan daily lessons and implement adopted District curriculum
- c. Administer assessments and use assessment information to modify lessons or teaching style to meet individual needs of students.
- d. Adhere to the Washington Administrative Code, state and federal statutes, and District policies.
- e. Prepare workspace prior to the beginning and at the conclusion of the work year

#### 2. Time with Students

- a. Supervise students
- b. Report concerns, unsafe conditions, suspected child abuse, threats, violations of school rules and district policy
- c. Complete State and District mandatory student assessments including administering and scoring as necessary.

## 3. Communication

- a. Communicate with parents
- b. Communicate with staff
- c. Attend parent conferences

d. Attend Orientation, Open House, Curriculum Nights, Awards Events

## 4. Meetings

- a. Participate in staff meetings
- b. Participate in department meetings
- c. Participate in grade level meetings
- d. Participate in other building level meetings
- e. Participate in meetings with parents before, during and after school
- f. Participate in SST, Section 504, IEP and other similar meetings
- g. Participate on committees

# 5. Professional Development

- a. Grow professionally
- b. Stay current on educational issues
- c. Participate in professional growth related to District, state and federal standards and initiatives
- d. Collaborate with colleagues in self-reflection, goal setting, workshops, classes, conferences, and other meetings
- e. Participate in individual self-reflection, goal setting, workshops, classes, conferences

#### 6. Staff Meetings

Staff meetings will be held at regular intervals. The building administrator will provide staff an opportunity to share ideas for staff meeting topics. Building leadership teams will determine the preferred method for providing that information. Emergency meetings may be called as appropriate. Except for emergencies, staff meetings will not extend beyond the workday more than twice per month and will not exceed a total of forty-five (45) minutes per month outside the contract day.

## 7. Department and/or Grade Level Meetings

Department and/or grade level meetings may be held at a site to address issues identified by the staff or administrator. The site will reach consensus on the content and frequency of these meetings using its decision-making matrix.

#### 8. Student Support Meetings with Parents and/or Other Staff

Parent involvement is an essential element of student growth and positive community relationships. Student support meetings will be scheduled as needed to support an individual student. Administrators will support staff in efforts to keep these meetings within the workday and release teachers when their participation is no longer necessary, however, meetings may be held outside of the required workday without additional compensation.

Additionally, staff members are expected to maintain contact with parents by returning phone calls and email correspondence within two (2) workdays and be proactive when dealing with student concerns such as discipline, low achievement, etc.

## 9. Supervise Students

Staff members are an integral part of ensuring the safety and well-being of students while on campus, including assemblies and before/after school. Building crisis, site, and activity plans, as developed by the building staff, will include defining responsibilities for staff supervision. Staff members are expected to communicate concerns about students and report unsafe conditions and child abuse; or events such as fights, harassment, threats, or violations of the discipline policy to the appropriate people in a timely manner.

## 10. Professional Development Time

To support the standard employment contract expectation to grow professionally, staff members will participate in individual and collegial activities such as self-reflection, goal setting, workshops, classes, conferences, or other collaborative meetings to support student learning. In order to make effective use of the available student release time within the standard contract, including but not limited to early release days, the time will be allocated as follows:

- 50 percent self-directed
- 50 percent District-directed

The schedule of this time shall be determined through a building-level decision-making process.

#### 11. Parent Conferences

Building staff will schedule and attend the annual District parent conferences. Conferences and related early release days will be scheduled in collaboration with TEA, District leadership, and building instructional leadership teams. Building plans may include flexible scheduling to accommodate parent conferences beyond the workday.

#### 12. Grading and Reporting

Teachers will maintain required records including grade books, summative progress reports, grade reports, attendance, and anecdotal record keeping in a timely fashion in accordance with District policies and procedures.

Teachers will provide progress reports and report cards for the students to which they are assigned. Report cards and progress reports will be scheduled in collaboration with TEA, District leadership, and building instructional leadership teams.

The District will not alter the grade assigned to any student by a teacher without prior consultation with the teacher, except in extreme circumstances. The teacher may appeal, in writing, any grade changes to the Superintendent or designee.

## C. Additional Days/Hours

All Employees, regardless of FTE, shall work six (6) days beyond the 180 student school days (counted and scheduled as a total of 42 hours) in the 2024-25 school year and seven (7) days beyond the 180 student school days (counted and scheduled as a total of 49 hours) in the 2025-26 school year. These hours are allocated as follows:

		24-25	25-26
1.	professional development and school-year start-up activities in support of student learning planned by the District/principals and scheduled by building consensus on days prior to the first day of the student school year ("August days")	14	14
2.	October professional development day planned by the District/principals	7	7
3.	professional development and other activities in support of student learning planned by the District/principals and scheduled to occur outside the regular workday or student school year calendar ("principal hours")	11	18
4.	professional development and other activities in support of student learning planned and scheduled outside the regular workday or student school year calendar by building consensus ("building consensus hours")	10	10
	TOTAL	42	49

The decision on how and when to use building determined Days/Hours in support of the Site or Department Learning Plan (row 4 above) will be made by the site or department through the building/department decision-making model. Building staff will also determine to hold calendared, building sponsored events, which require the participation and presence of all or an identified group of staff. Examples could include – Open House, curriculum

nights, student orientation or award events. This time may also be used for scheduled activities like training, seminars, or working together as collaborative teams in support of the site learning plan. The parties encourage sites to use the time in significant blocks, to the extent possible.

Staff new to the District will be paid at their per diem rate for District/building orientation and curriculum training.

Staff unable to attend any additional hours as listed above shall complete a leave slip for time missed. It is the staff member's responsibility to arrange for and acquire the information or training that was provided (including any state-mandated training on state-funded professional learning days). Curricula or policy decisions made while absent will be adhered to.

These hours may not be used for zero-hour programs or to pay for time at meetings during the duty free lunch period, which is a statutory right.

#### D. Professional Learning and Enrichment (PLE) Contract

We recognize that basic education funding does not compensate staff for the time necessary to complete all the required educational duties determined by the Tahoma School District. Three days (21 hours) in the 24-25 school year and four days (28 hours) in the 25-26 school year are included within the non-instructional days described in Section C above. There are responsibilities that are performed beyond the normal workday or calendar year for which additional compensation will be provided in the amount equal to 12.675 percent of the continuing staff member's standard salary regardless of FTE.

Longevity: Staff with 20 years or more of experience (measured using state rules for the SAM in 2017-18) shall be paid an additional \$4,000 on the PLE contract.

If a part-time staff member is requested in advance to attend staff meetings or other meetings by their building principal or department supervisor on non-scheduled days they will be compensated via a services rendered form. The combination of PLE contract and services rendered compensation will not exceed the equivalent compensation provided to a full-time staff member under the PLE contract.

All staff members are expected to fulfill their PLE contract by performing self-directed and scheduled work outside of the traditional workday.

Staff will self-determine their level of involvement for the following obligations:

- 1. Participate in self-reflection, goal setting, and related professional growth activities, such as: attending workshops, classes, conferences, seminars or participating in action research projects. Participate in the development of a building site plan, other building activities or committees such as interview teams.
- 2. Develop and maintain practices for communicating with families through ParentSquare with the availability of District training and technology.

3. Individual staff members will work with or in support of one (1) or more colleague(s) within their building(s) or department. The work will be related to curriculum, assessment, site plan activities, consensus decision-making or goals related to the individual's professional growth.

## E. Workday, Planning, Coverage and Closures

- 1. A full-time employee's regular workday of time on-site is seven (7) hours exclusive of a thirty (30) minute minimum duty-free lunch period. A certificated employee's total workday shall specifically include thirty (30) required minutes before and thirty (30) required minutes after school (except as such minutes are flexed or rescheduled with the approval of their supervisor).
- 2. Computed on a weekly basis, teachers at grades 6-12 will average 310 minutes of instructional time per day, and at least forty-five (45) continuous minutes of preparation time each day. Where buildings have reached a decision using the consensus-based decision-making model, a variance shall not be required.
  - Computed over a two-week period, teachers at grades K-5 will be provided an average of forty-five (45) minutes of preparation time per day during the student day. This total will be provided in at least 30-minute blocks. Where buildings have reached a decision using the consensus-based decision-making model, a variance shall not be required.
- 3. Employees who are required in the course of their employment to travel between buildings shall be scheduled to provide sufficient time for such travel.
- 4. Teachers of music, art, physical education, and laboratory sciences, librarians, speech therapists, reading consultants, social workers, OT/PT's, counselors, and all special education teachers shall be provided with relief and preparation time to the same extent as other teachers in the District.
- 5. If mutually agreed by the District and the Association, an employee shall be paid for teaching an extra period during their planning period. Employees shall be remunerated at their per diem rate of pay per teaching period for the extra period worked. Prior to posting these positions, the District shall inform the Association President of the positions. Within five (5) days of written notification of the President of such positions, Association representatives shall meet with District representatives to discuss the positions. The Association shall notify the District of their decision within five (5) days of the meeting noted above. Posting of the positions shall require Association approval.
- 6. Staff members shall not be assigned to more than fifteen (15) minutes per day, nor more than one (1) hour and fifteen (15) minutes total per week, of supervision of students outside of instructional time.
- 7. In cases of emergency, which is defined as a time when substitutes are not reasonably available to cover classes, the building staff will determine through the

building decision-making model how supervision and instruction of students will take place. Effort will be made to assign substitute coverage on an equitable basis, provided that employees who request such assignments will be given first priority. Employees who lose planning time will be reimbursed at their per diem hourly rate of pay. A building may, as one solution for emergency coverage, include the option for staff to assume a portion of someone else's class for a day. If this occurs, the staff person(s) assuming the responsibility will receive a prorated share of regular substitute compensation for the portion of the class and day they have covered.

- 8. When a staff member has entered a "Duty Out of Classroom" request at least one week prior to the date of the meeting and is called back to the classroom due to a shortage of substitutes, the principal may approve 60 minutes of services rendered time in recognition of the inconvenience.
- 9. When employees are released from normal duties for professional development or meetings, trainings will not exceed 6.25 hours per day, allowing for the 30-minute duty free lunch and 45 minutes of preparation time. The person organizing the meeting will check with participants regarding preferences for the day of week or portion of the day (morning or afternoon) to minimize the impact on employees' preparation time, as well as whether the 45 minutes of planning is scheduled contiguous with the 30-minute lunch period, scheduled prior to the training or scheduled after the training. Whenever practical, trainings or meetings that take place on multiple days will be scheduled so that they do not always fall on the same day of week, minimizing the impact on preparation time for the same staff members every time. The ability to accommodate those preferences may be limited based on the availability of space and/or the trainer.
- 10. If employees show up for work on a school day canceled for inclement weather and the District has not publicly announced closure in a timely manner, employee(s) will be paid for one (1) hour. "Timely manner" is defined as no later than the following times:
  - a. 6:30 am for school closure announcement only
  - b. 7:30 am for school closure announcement following a one-hour late start announcement
  - c. 8:30 am for school closure announcement following a two-hour late start announcement
- 11. The overall model of the daily schedule will be set by the Board. Schools may adjust at the building level within that model taking into consideration the needs of shared staff.
- 12. The calendar for the following school year shall be negotiated prior to March 30 of the current school year. The calendar shall include a non-workday between the semesters and in-service days in October and March.

## F. Additional Assignments and Responsibilities

#### 1. Enrichment Activities

Buildings will use the funds for the purpose of compensating staff for accepting additional responsibilities for student centered extended learning opportunities or "zero hour" programs and assignments developed through the site consensus process. For the 2024-25 school year, there will be \$41.98 per FTE student at grades K-6 and \$20.99 per FTE student at grades 7-12 for enrichment activities. These amounts shall be adjusted annually by the inflationary adjustment index used by the state in revenue formulas for certificated instructional staff, currently the implicit price deflator (IPD). Any funds not used in the year they are allocated will be carried forward to the following year by adding it to the District wide amount available for this purpose. For those assignments or responsibilities that will be compensated, the compensation will be paid at the extra service hourly rate.

## 2. Elementary Staff Support

All certificated elementary building-based staff will receive support for materials and supplies reimbursement, substitute release time, and paying for workshop registrations and books (conference materials). The amount available to each staff person will be their share of \$19 per District Pre K-5 student FTE divided by the total District certificated elementary staff FTE. Part time staff will receive a prorated share.

## 3. Leadership Money

- a. The District shall allocate funds to support building leadership needs. This sum is intended to create a District wide total and is not intended to be split based on the student FTE at a particular school. The total District dollar amount allocated for this purpose shall be no less than \$219,000.
- b. The Leadership Model is comprised of four quadrants in which leadership needs will be identified at each school
  - i. Instructional Leadership Team (ILT)
  - ii. Climate and Culture
  - iii. District Teams
  - iv. Other Building Leaders/Teams
- c. The Leadership Model design is intended to provide:
  - i. Clear job descriptions
  - ii. Equitable compensation

- iii. Structure for success
- d. The Leadership Model design:
  - i. Supports elementary, middle and high school models
  - ii. Meets building needs
  - iii. Ensures equity across buildings
  - iv. Is adaptive to changing needs
  - v. Ensures accountability to best practices
  - vi. Supports and sustains a learning organization
- e. For each of the four quadrants listed above job descriptions for relevant positions will be shared that articulate the scope of the work as well as the estimated number of hours required. Staff will complete an application to express their interest in a position. If there is more than one candidate for the position, the principal will gather input from staff, including department/grade level staff, regarding applicants. The principal will select an applicant for the position if consensus among the group cannot be reached.
- f. A sum of \$6,500 at each school will be allocated for the purposes of compensating activities in quadrant four (Other Building Leaders/Teams) to be determined at the building level using the stipend template provided by the District.

## 4. Supplemental Contracts and Additional Assignments

Supplemental contracts for each position will be funded by the District as follows. The employee and supervisor will mutually schedule such days.

- a. Extended days for CTE teachers will be determined per Addendum 15.
- b. Extended days for T&L Department Support Staff will be determined per Addendum 16.

#### c. Special Education and IEP Compensation

Special education, SLP, OT/PT, and Psychologist staff shall receive a responsibility stipend in the amount of \$5,376.85, prorated by FTE (to be increased by the state's inflationary adjustment factor each year) in recognition of the amount of additional time required for writing IEPs and assessments, participating in IEP meetings and/or evaluation meetings; and an additional five (5) hours of required District led special education

specific meetings/professional development. These staff members have the option to self-select the five (5) hours of professional development to allow for accessing professional development outside of the District in consultation with Special Education director. The Director of Special Education may approve additional hours of time, paid at per diem.

#### d. District Sponsored In-Service Training

One (1) or two (2) in-service instructors who plan and instruct a District staff development class outside of contractual workday/responsibilities, will each be paid at the rate of seventy-five (\$75.00) per hour based on teaching/facilitating time. Teams of more than two (2) must be preapproved by the Teaching and Learning Department and will be compensated at the rate of 2 ½ times the hourly training rate (\$188 hourly to be divided among the group of instructors).

# e. Mentor Teacher – Secondary

Tahoma School District is committed to supporting and nurturing new staff members, both professionally and personally. A key component of this assistance is the pairing of new teachers with peer mentors. Mentors are experienced staff members trained to observe, coach and support educators in their first years of teaching. A trusting and effective mentor/mentee relationship is based on mentors as peers. Mentors are not supervisors and mentor observations are not to be used as part of the staff member's evaluation.

Potential mentors should be experienced staff members who are distinguished or proficient in their own evaluations.

Interview teams are encouraged to review the "mentor selection criteria" and identify potential mentors for qualified new hires. Site or program administrators should contact potential mentors, select from those interested, and complete the Mentor Selection Form.

Should problems or concerns arise between the mentor and mentee, either party may seek problem solving support from the site administrator, Teaching & Learning New Teacher Coordinator, and/or an Association representative.

Mentor teachers will receive an annual stipend of \$600 and 10 hours of per diem for observations, coaching and meeting time. Mentees will receive an annual stipend of \$200.

## f. Mentor Teacher – Elementary

Partner Teachers will be identified at the building level for each staff member new to the profession. The Partner Teacher provides job alike support for the new to profession teacher in the teacher's building. These responsibilities include assisting with day-to-day questions that will emerge for the new to profession educator; offering support and consultation on curriculum planning; and answering questions regarding district and buildings events such as conferences, field trips, PTA events, etc. Consistent with current contract language regarding mentors, potential Partner Teachers should be experienced staff members who are distinguished or proficient in their own evaluations. Site or program administrators will contact potential Partner Teachers, select from those interested, and complete the Mentor Selection Form. Interview teams are encouraged to review the "mentor selection criteria" and identify potential Partner Teachers for new hires. The Partner Teacher will be paid a \$600 stipend.

In addition to the Partner Teachers, six District Mentors will be identified to support staff members new to the profession. District Mentors will provide ongoing formal and informal support to new teachers with a coaching-consulting relationship; provide opportunities for new teachers to seek advice and consult about various aspects of teacher role and responsibilities; and attend and support mentees at district level mentormentee meetings. District Mentors will attend the OSPI Mentorship Academy and ESD roundtable meetings; and participate in learning labs and District mentor-mentee meetings occurring 4 to 6 times per year. District mentors will be selected from interested staff members who complete an application; have at least five years of experience; have a distinguished or proficient rating in their own evaluation; have references from a building principal and colleagues; and are willing to make a minimum two-year commitment to serve in the position. Each District Mentor will be paid a \$400 stipend and up to 12 hours per diem compensation for meetings and other activities. Release time may also be provided, if substitutes are available, for District Mentors to attend OSPI mentor trainings and ESD roundtables.

Should problems or concerns arise at any time between the Partner Teacher, District Mentor and/or mentee, any party may seek problem solving support from the site administrator, Teaching & Learning New Teacher Coordinator, and/or an Association representative.

#### 5. Per Diem Rate

The per diem rate is paid for additional assignments and responsibilities that require professional certification but fall outside the employee's regular job description and mandated activities within the job description that fall outside the regularly scheduled workdays or work year. The per diem rate is calculated as the employee's base salary divided by the number of required workdays in the base contract. The hourly per diem rate is

calculated by dividing the per diem rate by the required, on-site work hours per day (minus any duty-free lunch period).

#### 6. Extra Service Rate

The extra service rate is paid for additional services including but not limited to optional professional development (including mandatory professional development in which employees had an option to complete during the regular workday), zero-hour activities, and student supervision outside the employee's job description. The extra service daily rate is calculated as the state's minimum base salary for Tahoma certificated educators divided by the number of required workdays in the base contract. The extra service hourly rate is calculated by dividing the daily rate by the required, on-site work hours per day (minus any duty-free lunch period).

# 7. District Leadership Needs

There are District needs which are met by building level staff. Unless otherwise noted, the per diem stipends will be prorated to the individual's FTE. The selection process for staff members qualified to receive stipends in this section for District leadership responsibilities shall not be subject to the procedures outlined in Article IV Section C. An annual posting of supplemental leadership stipends in this section is specifically not required, however staff members who request to be considered for such stipends for a subsequent year shall be given such consideration. The responsibilities and compensation in this section, which no qualified Association member accepts, may be offered to qualified individuals outside the bargaining unit.

## 8. Supplemental Contract Review and Adjustments

Staff receiving supplemental contracts and additional assignments who document over a period of two years that the days provided to carry out these duties are insufficient, may submit the documentation to the District and Association for consideration.

The District may offer the work of extra days above the contracted supplemental day amounts to non-bargaining unit employees only after posting the extra supplemental contract days in the District. After posting for five days, the District may proceed if no qualified District employee applies for the said extra days.

Any changes to supplemental contracts listed in 3 and 7 above shall be negotiated between the District and Association prior to the next school year through the labor management process.

The specific schedule for the time in the supplemental contract is to be arranged for by the building principal following consultation with the individual involved. The principal, after consultation with and approval of

the Superintendent, may request through the Board additional days to a maximum of two (2) days in each position.

Supplemental contracts funded by federal and state monies are to be unaffected by local financial problems as long as the actual position remains intact. The supplemental contract for any federal or state-funded position that is less than full time will receive a reduced supplemental contract that is in direct ratio to the part-time position.

#### 9. National Certification

The District will offer a \$3,763.79 stipend (increased by the state's inflationary adjustment factor beginning in the 2025-26 school year) to Educational Staff Associates covered by this bargaining agreement who attain and maintain for the entire school year national certification from the following national boards:

- a. Nationally Certified School Psychologists (NCSP)/National Association of School Psychologists (NASP)
- b. Certificate of Clinical Competence in Speech-Language Pathology (CCC-SLP) / American Speech Hearing Association (ASHA)
- c. Occupational Therapist Registered (OTR)/The National Board for Certification in Occupational Therapy (NBCOT)
- d. Physical Therapists: passage of the National Physical Therapist Examination (NPTE) will be accepted in lieu of national certification.
- e. National Board Certified School Nurses (NBCSN)/The National Board for Certification of School Nurses (NBCSN)

This stipend shall be paid at the same time as the National Board stipend is paid to classroom teachers and counselors.

## 10. Kindergarten Start Date and WaKIDS

As long as it is authorized by state law, the school year for Kindergarten students will start three (3) days after the first day of school for students in grades 1-12 to provide additional time for family connection conferences, orientation and other WaKIDS assessment activities. Each Kindergarten teacher will be paid up to seven (7) hours of additional time at per diem for entry of WaKIDS assessment data through a services-rendered form.

## 11. Notice of Retirement or Resignation

In preparation for staffing for the following school year, any employee who submits a notice of resignation or retirement no later than the last workday of February (effective at the end of the current school year) will be entitled to a \$500 stipend

provided that the employee completes an "Exit Plan" with their supervisor prior to the end of the current school year.

#### 12. Additional FTE Due to Unfilled Vacancies

ESA staff who take on additional duties due to unfilled certificated vacancies shall be offered a supplemental contract for additional FTE not to exceed 1.2 FTE.

#### **G.** Insurance Benefits

# 1. School Employees Benefits Board (SEBB) Program

The District shall pay the full portion of the employer contribution to the School Employees Benefit Board (SEBB) for insurance programs as adopted in the Statewide Collective Bargaining Agreement for all employees who meet the eligibility requirements outlined in SEBB regulations. SEBB will implement the Statewide Collective Bargaining Agreement when establishing the employee rates which will be paid to the Health Care Authority (HCA) through payroll deduction for the month in which the employee receives benefits. With proof of insurance, an employee may decline coverage through the SEBB and therefore not have any payments or premiums deducted from their pay for this purpose.

#### 2. Benefit Plans

Benefits presently offered by the District through the SEBB include but are not limited to:

- Basic Life and Accidental Death and Dismemberment insurance (AD&D)
- Basic Long-term Disability
- Vision
- Dental including orthodontia; and
- Medical

Employees are eligible to participate in the SEBB-offered Medical Flexible Spending Arrangement (FSA) and Dependent Care Assistance Program (DCAP). Employees will also have the option of enrolling in a Health Savings Account (HSA) when they select a qualifying High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) for their medical insurance. When available through SEBB, employees will be able to utilize payroll deduction for any supplemental insurance in which they choose to enroll through SEBB (e.g., increased Life, AD&D, Long-term disability, etc.).

## 3. Dependent Coverage

Legal spouses, state-registered domestic partners, children up to age 26 (biological and adopted children, children of the employee's spouse or state-registered domestic partner, children for which a court order of divorce decree created a legal obligation to provide support or health care coverage) and children of any age with

a developmental or physical handicap who are not capable of self-support are dependents covered within the SEBB programs.

Should an employee have dependent(s) who were covered by insurance as of December 31, 2019, but who no longer qualify for coverage under SEBB, the employee will have the opportunity to enroll the dependent(s) at the employee's cost for a period up to 36 months. Such payments will be made through payroll deduction by the district and paid to the HCA for this purpose.

## 4. Eligibility

Employees shall be eligible for full insurance coverage under the SEBB program if they work, or are anticipated to work, 630 hours or more in a school year. All compensated hours in any position within the district during the school year shall count for purposes of establishing eligibility.

Employees whose eligibility is presumed based on SEBB Resolution and/or WAC provisions regarding hours worked in the previous two (2) school years shall be offered benefits. Employees who are hired after September 1 but are anticipated to work 630 hours or more the following year shall be offered benefits coverage based on applicable SEBB Resolution and/or WAC provisions regarding "mid-year hires."

In the absence of applicable SEBB Resolution or WAC, eligibility of employees on unpaid leave status will be determined by the parties on a case-by-case basis. The District shall notify the Association and the parties shall review the circumstances of any eligible employee on unpaid leave whom the District anticipates will become ineligible for benefits due to the unpaid leave status. Such notice and review shall occur reasonably in advance of any action by the District to terminate the affected employee(s) benefits.

#### 5. Benefit Enrollment/Start

Benefit coverage for new employees will begin the first day of the month following the first day of work when it is anticipated that the employee will work 630 hours or more in a school year, except during the month of September when the employee's benefit coverage will begin in September if the employee meets the eligibility criteria.

## 6. Continuity of Coverage

When a new employee was previously employed by a SEBB employer and was eligible for SEBB coverage, that employee will have uninterrupted benefit coverage if the employee is anticipated to work 630 hours or more in the school year. If an employee was not anticipated to work 630 hours in a school year but meets the eligibility criteria during the school year, the employee shall be offered benefits coverage beginning in the month following this establishment of eligibility.

#### 7. Benefit Termination/End

Any employee terminating employment shall be entitled to continue receiving the District insurance contribution for the remainder of the calendar month in which the contribution is effective. In cases where separation occurs after completion of the student school year, benefit coverage will continue through August 31. Any exception shall be determined on a case-by-case basis and confirmed by the parties.

#### 8. Collaborative Review Process

The District shall, upon request, provide the Association with reports on employees whom the District deems ineligible for benefits, and the District's rationale for such ineligibility.

## 9. Legislative Changes

If the Washington State Legislature changes provisions of the SEBB to allow for changes in employer contributions towards elective benefits or makes changes to the insurance coverage provisions, either party can reopen this agreement for negotiation over the changes to the extent permitted by law.

## 10. Interpretation and Appeals

The provisions in this Article II, Section G represent the parties' shared understanding of current SEBB rules regarding eligibility and coverage. All of these provisions shall be read consistent with any SEBB rules, regulations and policies, some of which may change over time.

Any SEBB decisions made by the District that an employee seeks to challenge shall be appealed by submitting a written request for administrative review in accordance with WAC 182-32-2020 (or other applicable WAC) rather than the grievance procedure in Article VIII of the collective bargaining agreement.

## H. Staff Wellness Program

To promote healthy, active lifestyles, the District and Association will create a committee to meet annually in the spring to evaluate the staff wellness program offerings for the school year and determine changes, if any, needed for the program. The District will allocate up to \$20,000 per year.

## I. Pay Periods, Payroll Deductions, Withholding and Annuities

1. Employees will be paid on the last business day of the month. All pay warrants will be direct deposited in a financial institution of the employee's choice. The District shall work with employees who have difficulty obtaining a checking account to find an institution for the deposit.

# 2. Payroll Deductions

#### a. Automatic Deductions

All salaries are subject to payroll deductions for:

- i. Withholding tax
- ii. State Teacher or State Employment Retirement Systems
- iii. FICA
- iv. Medicaid
- v. Absence not provided for by leaves (computed at per diem based on the staff member's annual salary for each day's absence)
- vi. State Industrial Insurance
- vii. Monies will also be deducted when requested by the state or IRS for liens, garnishments, or child support.

#### b. Authorized Deductions

The following deductions may be made if authorized by the individual:

- i. Additional withholding tax
- ii. Approved medical plans
- iii. Short-Term Disability Salary Insurance
- iv. Tax-sheltered annuities
- v. Tax-sheltered Section 125 "Flexible Spending Plan"
- vi. Payments to Washington School Employees' Credit Union or other financial institutions.
- vii. Other approved insurance programs
- viii. Association dues
- ix. United Way contribution
- x. U.S. Savings Bond
- xi. Direct deposit of employee's paycheck to participating financial institutions

## 3. Tax-Sheltered Annuity

Once a calendar year employees may initiate and/or change their participation in tax-sheltered annuity programs. The District shall service these through automatic payroll deductions. Annuities may be canceled anytime during the calendar year and this will not be a designated change per IRS rules.

#### J. Travel

#### 1. In-District Travel

Mileage reimbursement shall be equal to the amount paid per District policy.

#### 2. Out-of-District Travel

The employee shall be reimbursed for those expenses incurred through travel, meals, and lodging per District policy for Board-approved out-of-District projects or visitations.

#### **K.** FTE Calculation

- 1. Secondary staff FTE as used in the collective bargaining agreement will be calculated as described in this section K. This calculation is intended to simplify the process for calculating partial FTE, both less than 1.0 FTE as well as more than 1.0 FTE.
- Calculating minutes over the course of the year can be time consuming, cumbersome, and confusing given special schedules, blue days, gold days, green days, half days, assembly schedules, length of each period, snow days and number of days per semester, to name a few. As such, FTE will not be recalculated to account for these types of differences in daily schedules from week to week or year to year.
- 3. A 1.0 FTE teacher is contracted for 183 days at 7 hours per day. 180 of the 183 days are the student days in the school calendar. The other 3 days (21 hours) are included as part of the base contract. There are also an additional 3 days (21 hours) paid on a supplemental contract.
- 4. At the middle school level, the school day is scheduled as periods 1-6 each day. Over the 180 student days, a 1.0 FTE teacher will teach 5 of these 6 classes with one class designated as a planning period. Each of the periods taught are considered a .2 FTE for calculation purposes (for calculating part-time or more than full-time work).
- 5. At the high school level, the school day is scheduled as periods 1-8 over a two-day cycle. Over the 180 student days, a 1.0 FTE teacher will teach 6 of these 8 classes with two classes designated as planning periods. Each of the periods taught are

# **Article II – Contract Terms**

considered a .16666667 FTE for calculation purposes (for calculating part-time or more than full-time work).

#### ARTICLE III – LEAVES

#### A. Paid Leaves

#### 1. Annual leave

Each certificated employee shall be allocated twelve (12) days of annual leave for illness, emergencies, and non-illness purposes as described below. Staff members working less than full time will receive prorated leave based on their FTE. Suspected or potential abuse of leave may be reviewed by the District.

#### a. Illness leave

This leave is deducted from the annual leave allotment. Medical (including dental, vision and mental health) reasons and other emergencies are considered personal illness. Whenever possible, routine medical, dental and vision checkups or life insurance examinations should be scheduled outside of the contracted workday. Absence in excess of five (5) consecutive days must be supported by a signed statement from a licensed health care provider.

In the case of a long-term health leave, a licensed health care provider will be asked to complete a District form stating the probable beginning and ending dates for the leave. The completion of an additional form will be required to amend the leave dates.

#### b. Non-illness leave

- i. This leave is deducted from the annual leave allotment. Employees may use up to seven (7) of their annual leave allotment in a given year. Up to five (5) of the days may be taken consecutively. This leave may be used for personal, volunteering or professional reasons.
- ii. Up to 20 District certificated staff members requiring a substitute may be granted non-illness leave per day. Prior approval will be granted on a first come, first served basis following receipt of a request to the District's Human Resources Department. A calendar with current non-illness use scheduled for future days will be published and viewable to all employees.
- iii. Non-illness leave shall be taken in full- or half-day increments, excluding mandatory days which can be taken hourly, half-day, or full-day.
- iv. Non-illness leave may not be taken on the workday immediately preceding or following December, February, and April breaks, or the first or last day of school.

- v. If all non-illness leave days have been exhausted for attending professional development opportunities which may otherwise not be supported by the District, the building principal and staff member may mutually agree on additional non-illness day(s) to be deducted from the staff member's illness leave.
- vi. Exceptions to the non-illness leave restrictions listed in subsections i.-v. above may be appealed. Appeals will be considered by the Director of Human Resources and the Association President. Their decision is not subject to the grievance process.

## 2. Bereavement

The District shall grant five (5) days bereavement leave with pay to employees according to the following provisions.

Up to five (5) days of bereavement leave per occurrence shall be granted for the death of an employee's parent, spouse, child, sibling, parent-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, aunt, uncle, grandparent, grandchild, close friend, or any person living in the immediate household, or for an employee's loss of pregnancy.

Additional days of bereavement leave may be deducted from accrued days of leave and must be approved by the Human Resources Department. If no paid leave is available, the cost of the substitute will be deducted.

#### 3. Serious Family Illness Leave

Up to three (3) days paid leave may be used in a given year for diagnosed life threatening illness or hospital care of those individuals, not including close friend (unless living in the household), listed in 2 above.

Accumulated sick leave may be used by an employee for illness of any individual identified in 2 who requires treatment or supervision by the employee.

## 4. Childbirth/Adoption Leave

Maternity leave shall be granted for the period of disability that prevents an employee from fulfilling the employee's contractual obligation to the District. Accrued illness benefits will be paid only for the period of disability.

In the case of a maternity-related disability, a licensed health care provider will be asked to complete a District form stating the probable beginning and ending dates for the leave. The completion of an additional form will be required to amend the leave dates.

The employee must submit a written request to the employee's immediate supervisor for maternity leave. This request will include: approximate length of

absence, the estimated date the absence is to begin, and the estimated date the absence is expected to end. This request should be signed by the immediate supervisor and forwarded to the Human Resources Department for approval.

An employee will be granted three (3) days of leave for the adoption of the employee's child or birth of a spouse or partner's child. The leave will be deducted from illness leave. This leave may be used in conjunction with other paid leaves available for this purpose.

In addition to the above paid leaves, unpaid leave may be allowed for the birth or adoption/foster of a child.

## 5. Jury Duty and Court Action

Employees may serve on juries.

When a staff member is subpoenaed to appear in court on behalf of the District, the District will pay that staff member's per diem pay for the time spent in court, up to a 7-hour workday, when such court appearance occurs on a non-contracted workday.

When subpoenaed by a court, a staff member shall receive leave without loss of pay for up to fifteen (15) days. Employees are allowed to keep any compensation they receive for serving as a member of a jury in addition to their regular pay.

The provisions above shall not apply and will be considered leave without pay when a staff member appears as the plaintiff, claimant, or defendant on the staff member's own behalf, or in any action or proceeding in which the District or its agents are a party unless said employee is subpoenaed by the District.

#### 6. Association Leave

The Tahoma Education Association will be granted a cumulative total of thirty (30) days of absence each year for professional meetings and business of the National, State, and Local Education Associations. The Association will give five (5) days advance notice whenever possible to the District of pending absence. Whenever more than three (3) Association representatives are released on the same date, the additional representatives will count in the non-illness related leave cap (Section A1 above). The Association will reimburse the District at the substitute teacher pay rate for substitutes hired to cover such absences.

When the parties mutually agree to meet during the workday there will not be a charge to the Association for substitute costs.

## **B.** Unpaid Leaves

#### 1. Leave of Absence

A staff member may request a long-term unpaid leave. The Board upon recommendation of the Superintendent may grant the long-term leave of absence to the staff member. Moreover, the growth and future need of the District will be taken into consideration when the leave is granted so that any untenable commitments by either party may be avoided. The following provisions apply:

- a. A staff member must have completed one (1) year of satisfactory service in the District to be eligible for long term-leave. Requests for leave for conditions found in sections i, ii, iii, and iv must be submitted by May 15 of the year preceding the requested leave.
- b. The District shall reappoint a certificated staff member upon receipt of a written request submitted no later than March 15. Failure to give written notification to the District by March 15th constitutes a resignation of the position. For leaves of one-year duration, the District will reassign the staff member to their previously assigned building and shall make every effort to reassign the individual to a position commensurate with the individual's training and experience. For leaves of greater than one year's duration, the District shall make every effort to reassign the individual to a position commensurate with the individual's training and experience. Further, the conditions affecting leaves under Section iv, v, vi, and vii shall determine acceptance for reappointment as judged by the District.
- c. Leaves of absence may be granted for:
  - i. Study and research
  - ii. Foreign teaching in the service of the U.S.
  - iii. Approved exchange teacher assignment
  - iv. Work in a professionally related field
  - v. Personal illness
  - vi. Family emergency
  - vii. Maternity/Parental
  - viii. Military
  - ix. Special cases as recommended by the Superintendent or designee.

#### 2. Leave for Public Office

The District shall provide unpaid leave of absence for certificated employees who have been elected to public office. The following shall regulate the leave:

- a. Any certificated employee who has been elected to a public office has the right to hold that office and to attend to the duties associated with that office.
- b. The duties and obligations inherent in the office held by the employee shall determine the length of the leave.
- c. Certificated employees who have been elected to the state legislature shall be granted leaves greater than their legislative term contingent on the District's securing a qualified (as determined by the District) substitute.

#### C. Other Available Leaves

- 1. Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) See Board Policy 5404.
- 2. Washington State Paid Family and Medical Leave See Board Policy 5404.
- 3. Unpaid Religious Holidays See Board Policy 5409.
- 4. Domestic Violence Leave See Board Policy 5401 and Chapter 49.76 RCW.
- 5. Paid Parental Leave (when effective) see SSB 5975 (2017).
- 6. Military Leave for Public Employees See Board Policy 5407 and RCW 38.40.060.

## D. Sick Leave Buy-Back, VEBA Plan Contributions, and Leave Sharing

## 1. Sick Leave Buy-Back

The District will continue to provide sick leave buy-back in Board policy pursuant to state statute and WACs for the annual sick leave buy-back. The Board policy authorizing such annual sick leave buy-back will not change during the life of this Collective Bargaining Agreement.

## 2. VEBA Plan Contributions Upon Retirement or Separation

The District has adopted a VEBA health reimbursement arrangement (the "Plan") pursuant to RCW 28A.400.210, and the District agrees to make contributions described in this section to the Plan on behalf of all employees in the bargaining unit who are eligible to participate in the Plan.

Eligibility for contributions at retirement or separation from service is limited to employees who retire or separate from service with sick leave cash-out rights during the term of this agreement, and excess sick leave shall be defined as the sick leave days accruing to the credit of such employee during the term of the Plan. The Plan shall cover retirement or separation from service sick leave cash-out benefits only.

Contributions on behalf of each eligible employee shall be based on the cash-out value of sick leave accrued by such employee available for contribution in accordance with statute and District policy or procedure. All eligible employees will be required to sign and submit to the District a hold harmless agreement complying with RCW 28A.400.210. If an eligible employee fails to sign and submit such agreement to the District, the District will not make sick leave cash-out contributions to the Plan on behalf of that employee at any time during the term of this agreement, and any and all excess sick leave which, in the absence of this agreement, would accrue to such employee during the term of this Agreement shall be forfeited together with all cash rights that pertain to such excess sick leave.

## 3. Sick Leave Sharing

Sick leave sharing may be provided by other employees on a case-by-case basis pursuant to state law for an eligible employee who suffers from, or has a relative or household member suffering from, an extraordinary or severe illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition which has caused, or is likely to cause, the employee to take leave without pay or to terminate employment.

The staff member must have depleted, or will shortly deplete, their annual/family illness leave reserves and is not eligible for industrial insurance benefits.

District employees may donate leave as follows:

- a. A staff member who has an accrued sick (annual) leave balance of more than twenty-two (22) days may request that the superintendent transfer a specified amount of sick leave to another staff member authorized to receive such leave, or to the District's shared leave pool. A staff member may not request a transfer that would result in an accrued sick leave balance of fewer than twenty-two (22) days. Sick leave as defined in RCW 28A.400.300 means leaves for illness, injury and emergencies.
- b. The number of leave days transferred shall not exceed the amount authorized by the donating staff member.
- c. Any leave donated by a staff member which remains unused shall be returned to the donor. To the extent administratively feasible, leave transferred by more than one staff member shall be returned on a pro-rata basis.
- d. Leave shall be calculated on a day-donated and day-received basis.

#### ARTICLE IV – EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

## A. Just Cause

The concept of just cause includes the concept of progressive discipline (verbal reprimand, written reprimand, suspension without pay, discharge). In progressive discipline, steps may be skipped whenever the corrective action is proportional to the seriousness of the misconduct.

No employee may be adversely affected in the employee's contract status (suspended or discharged) without probable cause. Probable cause may be contested through the statutory process. (RCW 28A.405.300)

No employee shall be disciplined with written reprimand or verbal warning without just cause.

The specific grounds forming the basis for disciplinary action to be added to an employee's personnel file will be sent to the staff member.

An employee shall be entitled to and be informed of the right to have present a representative of the Association during any disciplinary action excluding informal warnings, criticism, or suggestions for improvement which do not independently form a basis for formal action. When a request for such representation is made, no action shall be taken with respect to the employee until such representation of the Association is present or until two (2) days have passed after such request. In cases where the health, safety, and wellbeing of students, other employees, or District patrons necessitate immediate disciplinary action, the District will notify the Association as soon as reasonably possible that action has been taken.

Any written charge of misconduct made against an employee by any parent, student, or other person will be promptly called to the attention of the staff member.

When charges of misconduct are made against an employee by any parent, student, or other person which results in an investigation, the principal will give written notice of the allegations to the employee within twelve (12) working days of commencement of the investigation. Any investigation will include an opportunity for the employee to respond to all allegations lodged against them.

When investigating such charges, the investigation materials and results will be maintained in the District files, except in those instances when the employee is disciplined as a result of the investigation, then the letter of discipline will be placed in the personnel file. The employee will also be given written notice of the results of the investigation within twelve (12) working days of completion of the investigation.

#### **B.** Personnel Files

Employees' personnel files maintained in the Human Resources Department or working files in the immediate supervisor's office that may serve as a basis for affecting employment status will be available for inspection by the affected employee. Anyone, at the employee's request, may be present in this inspection.

An employee will have the right to comment on any material placed in the personnel or working file and to have such comments attached to the material in question.

Derogatory information will be entered into an employee's file under the following conditions only:

The employee will be notified, in writing, within ten (10) working days, that such information has been placed in the file.

The employee will be provided an opportunity to challenge the accuracy or appropriateness of such information.

The employee will be provided an opportunity to enter a written statement of clarification or explanation of such information.

After two (2) years, an employee may request that the District remove derogatory materials from that person's file. The District reserves the discretion to continue such placement in the personnel file. Materials removed will be destroyed as allowed by record retention statutes or retained in litigation or investigative files.

Upon request, the employee and/or the Superintendent or the official designee shall sign an inventory sheet to verify contents of the personnel file at the time of inspection.

The District will not release documents from an employee's personnel file unless required by law. Prior to the release of any document to someone not acting on behalf of the District, the District shall provide notice of at least five (5) working days to allow the employee to seek an injunction against such release.

# C. Assignment and Transfer

#### 1. General Conditions

Employees will be assigned on the basis of the needs of the District.

For the purpose of assignments and transfers, "building" staff positions include those employees evaluated by a building principal, associate principal, or assistant principal. For the purpose of assignments and transfers, "program" staff include those employees evaluated by somebody other than a building principal, associate principal, or assistant principal. For the purpose of assignments and transfers, program staff are assigned to the District and placed in individual building(s) by the supervising Director. If a District program (e.g., SAIL or preschool) is relocated, the teacher assigned to that program will be moved with that program to the new location without considering this a reassignment or transfer.

An employee on a special assignment will be guaranteed a return to their same position for one year. If the employee on special assignment serves in that role for an additional year, the District will guarantee return to an equivalent position.

Excessed means an employee's position has been eliminated due to enrollment or program changes and without a transfer the employee would be subject to reduction in force (Article VII).

Part-time employees, with the recommendation of the principal/supervisor and the approval of the Director of Human Resources may increase their FTE in filling an open position.

The District may convert a leave replacement/long term substitute's contract to a regular contract upon recommendation of the principal/supervisor and the approval of the Director of Human Resources.

The District has the option of posting for a pool of candidates in which multiple hires can occur from the same posting.

After July 15, the District has the option to post positions as "Open Until Filled" for the ensuing school year.

TPEP summative evaluation scores would be "one of the multiple factors" a principal and/or hiring team would consider for vacancies on the professional staff as it relates to assignment and transfer.

# 2. Hiring Committees

- a. Building and program hiring committees, established pursuant to building and District decision matrices will receive training on appropriate hiring and interview techniques and procedures.
- b. Building and program hiring committees will identify any specific knowledge, skills, and abilities necessary for a candidate to be successful in the building or program.
- If an in-district candidate is not selected for transfer into an open position, the District shall provide a written rationale to the employee, if requested.
   The chair of the hiring committee may solicit input from the committee, if warranted.

#### 3. Posting and Notices

Postings will be made available on the District's website.

All candidates who apply for and are not selected for a position will be notified that the position has been filled by another candidate.

# 4. Assignments and Voluntary Transfers

Vacancies on the professional staff will be filled according to the following considerations:

# a. Step 1 – In-Building Reassignments

The principal will email the building staff and program staff assigned to that building that a position is open and will consider any qualified in-building candidates who express a written interest (email or other means) within two (2) days.

# b. Step 2

Open positions shall be posted for at least five (5) school-business days. Other in-district candidates may apply for an open position and will be considered by the hiring committee.

## c. Step 3

The hiring committee will consider the other in-district candidates by choosing one of the following options:

- i. recommends one of the qualified in-district candidates for the position from the pool of applicants without interviewing, or
- ii. elects to interview one or more of the in-district candidates from the pool of applicants, or
- iii. elects to interview all of the in-district candidates from the pool of applicants, or
- iv. elects to interview one or more of the in-district candidates and one or more of the out-of-district candidates from the pool of applicants, or
- v. elects to interview all of the in-district candidates and one or more of the out-of-district candidates from the pool of applicants, or
- vi. elects to interview out-of-district candidates only. Prior to selecting this option, steps 4-7 (below) must occur first.

#### d. Step 4

The District will place any excessed (RIF) employees who have not received a placement. Employees excessed (RIF'd) from their building or program will be placed prior to offering the position to a replacement employee, substitute, increasing the FTE of another employee, or filling the

position from outside the District. Human Resources in consultation with building principals/supervisors will determine the placement of the excessed staff.

## e. Step 5

The District will place any leave replacement employees who have been converted to a regular employee.

## f. Step 6

The District may place an employee(s) hired without a specific vacancy or for positions with multiple vacancies. The Superintendent is responsible for making the placement decision in consultation with the Director of Human Resources and the principal/supervisor.

# g. Step 7

The hiring committee may elect to consider substitutes who have worked for the District for at least 100 days during the past two (2) years as an internal candidate for a transfer.

## h. Step 8

The hiring committee interviews out-of-district candidates from the pool of applicants.

## 5. Positions "To Be Determined"

Each spring, the District will identify specific positions they propose to recruit outside of the normal Assignment and Transfer process listed above. The number and type of positions will be provided in writing to the Association prior to April 1. The District and Association will reach agreement on a final list of positions to be hired outside of that section of the negotiated agreement.

The District will have the authority to offer letters of intent to candidates at in-state job fairs, out-of-state job fairs, college open houses, educator recruitment visits, and similar hiring events where potential candidates will be available to school district recruiters.

The letters of intent will be conditional based on reference checks and school board approval. These candidates will be hired into the District for positions without a specific vacancy and initial placement may be known as "To Be Determined" if there are multiple similar positions anticipated. These positions will be placed according to Step 6 above.

#### 6. Involuntary Assignments or Transfers

Should it be necessary to transfer an employee from building, program or grade level and/or subject to another, the following conditions will prevail:

- a. As much notification as possible will be given, in writing, by the Superintendent or designee to the employee being transferred or reassigned within a program.
- b. At the request of the employee or the District, instruction-free duty time for preparation and orientation in the new school of two (2) workdays will be allowed to the employee transferred during the school year.
- c. When the transfer is the result of Administrative decisions the District will assume responsibility for boxing and moving all but personal items.

## 7. Moving Reimbursement

Moves not requested by the employee will be compensated with \$500 upon completion of a Services Rendered Form.

On-site secondary moves must involve a total change of homeroom to receive compensation.

# 8. New Facilities or Reconfiguration

At least nine (9) months prior to the opening of a new facility, realignment, or reconfiguration of the District, the District and Association will meet to develop the process for implementing the necessary change. The District and the Association may agree to a process that includes the suspension of the voluntary and involuntary transfer process set forth above. The process will be communicated to staff in writing prior to any staff change.

#### 9. Contract Renewal and Resignation

- a. Contracts for returning staff may be offered after April 15. Once offered, a staff member has 10 business days to return the contract to Human Resources. A staff member may resign their contract for the subsequent school year any time on or before June 15. Upon receipt of the resignation the District will immediately release the staff member from their contract.
- b. After June 15 and during a contract year a staff member may not request to be released from their contract with less than thirty (30) days' notice. Once the request is submitted the District will post the position. Providing the District posts the position the staff member may be held to their contract until the end of the secondary semester grading period, until the completion of the elementary parent conference period, or until the position is filled, whichever occurs first.

c. A staff member may appeal to be released from a contract aside from paragraph b above to a committee composed of three (3) Association members and three (3) District representatives. At least five of the six members of the committee must agree for the appeal to be granted.

# 10. Transfer By-Pass Procedures

Through the labor-management process a staff member may be transferred or reassigned at any time for the benefit of the staff person and District. This exception to the transfer process set out above may be initiated by the staff person, supervisor, the Association or the District.

#### ARTICLE V – WORKING CONDITIONS

# A. General Education Class Size and Special Education Workload

#### 1. General Education Class Size

Both the School Board and the Association recognize the effective utilization of staff members has a direct bearing upon the achievement of the students, e.g., since large class loads for teachers hinder effective learning, the Board agrees to give serious thought toward lowering class loads or teacher-student ratios.

- a. Elementary building administrators will gather input from classroom teachers prior to assigning students to classrooms for the next school year in order to assign students to classes in a fair and equitable manner. Special needs students will be placed collaboratively by the building principal and the appropriate special needs staff.
- b. The District will provide extra pay if the following class sizes are exceeded:

i. Preschool: 18 students per section

ii. TK: 18 FTE students

iii. Kindergarten: 22 FTE students

iv. Grades 1-3: 23 FTE students

v. Grade 4: 26 FTE students

vi. Grade 5: 27 FTE students

For each one (1) FTE student which exceeds the above numbers, the District will provide \$14 per student per day. Class size shall be measured on the student count dates for October, November, December, January, February, March, April, May, and June. For Preschool classes, no new peer student will be enrolled after November 30 unless replacing a withdrawn peer student.

- c. The District will provide extra pay if the following class sizes are exceeded:
  - i. Grades 6-8: 30 FTE students per class.
  - ii. Grades 9-12: 32 FTE students per class

For each one (1) FTE student which exceeds the above numbers, the District will provide \$14 per student per day, pro-rated by number of teaching periods in a full-time assignment. Class size shall be measured on the student count dates for October, November, December, January, February,

March, April, May, and June and each month will be deemed to have 20 days.

- d. The numbers in b & c above are conditioned on the District receiving full funding at current prototypical school funding levels. If the class size funding levels change, this section may be reopened.
- e. Excluded from these are traditional large-scale classes, such as band, orchestra and choir. The District will attempt to keep such secondary-level classes at no more than 40 FTE students ("Performance" classes may exceed this limit). Secondary physical education classes that exceed 40 FTE students will be provided relief identified under paragraph c above. Secondary physical education classes with a portion of classroom time and a portion of gymnasium time will be provided relief identified in paragraph c above when the class exceeds 35 FTE students in a traditional classroom setting for the Health portion of the curriculum.
- f. Elementary split-grade classes will have class size thresholds of three (3) less FTE students.
- g. When a multi-age classroom is created the teacher, principal and Teaching and Learning Department representative will meet to determine the additional support that the staff person needs and collaboratively develop a plan to meet the needs.
- h. When an elementary specialist is assigned the students of all or a portion of an additional class due to shortage of space or staff to provide contractual planning time, the elementary specialist will be provided hourly per diem at the fractional share of the class being assigned (e.g. one-fourth hourly per diem for taking one-fourth of the students from an additional class).

# 2. Special Education Workload

Staff will receive the relief identified below due to the higher needs of students requiring increased meeting time, communication with parents and staff, development of accommodations, and implementation of new curriculum and learning standards.

## a. Elementary and Secondary Schools

For each one (1) FTE IEP student above four (4), the District will provide, \$6 per FTE student per day, prorated per period for middle and high school. Both elementary and secondary IEP students shall be measured on October 1, January 1, March 1, and May 1. Staff eligible for overload pay shall be paid once for each quarter based on those measurements. Compensation will be retroactive to the beginning of the quarter.

- b. Alternative Assessments: Annually the Special Education Director or designee will meet with teachers scheduled to complete alternative assessments to determine a plan for support to allow each teacher to complete the paperwork and assessment needed to meet the state requirements. The plan will be based on the current OSPI requirements and the number of students to be assessed. Teachers will also be provided access to training on the process provided by OSPI.
- c. Special Education Teachers: The special education caseload manager will be compensated at five (5) hours of the employee's per diem hourly rate for each student over twenty (20) on Resource and BIS staff member's caseload. The special education caseload manager will be compensated at five (5) hours of the employee's per diem hourly rate for each student over ten (10) on SAIL, Special Education Preschool and Transition 18-21 staff member's caseload. This compensation will be calculated at the end of the school year and is based on the total number of IEPs completed as the caseload manager.

# 3. Overload Computation

Overload reimbursement for either secondary class size or IEP overloads will be computed from the first day the overload existed.

# 4. Multiple Classes in Same Period

If the district requires a teacher to teach multiple classes in the same period (excluding Special Education courses), the teacher will be paid a stipend of \$500 for two classes or \$750 for three classes.

## 5. Special Education ESAs

District administrators (Human Resources and Special Services) will work with OTs, PTs, Psychologists, Social Workers, and SLPs to staff and assign special education educational staff associate positions in a manner that takes into consideration the number of cases and number/location of work sites of each staff member. The goal will be to attempt to provide equitable workloads. Assignments may be altered during the school year in order to provide equity and/or stay below the caseload goals below. Disputes in determining an equitable distribution of assignments will be resolved through the labor management process.

Position/Year	2024-25	<b>Starting 2025-26</b>
OT	1:29	1:29
PT	1:29	1:29
SLP	1:45	1:40
Psychologists	1:1000	1:800

Students who are receiving SDI or related services from the OT, PT or SLP shall be included in the caseload numbers above.

For OTs, PTs and SLPs, the District shall offer overload assistance to employees whose caseloads exceed the goals above. The support can include 60 minutes of paraeducator time per week, an additional hour of IEP writing time compensated at the employee's hourly per diem rate for every student over the above numbers or increasing the FTE of COTA and PT Assistants helping the overloaded ESA. The additional support will be determined in collaboration with the Director of Special Services, the department head (if any), and the assigned ESA. Caseload counts will be measured on the student day immediately following November 1, January 2, and March 1 to determine the needed additional support for the remainder of the school year.

For school psychologists, if the District-wide ratio exceeds the staffing goal by 5% or more, in addition to the 10 extra days already provided, the District shall offer overload assistance to school psychologists. The support can include contractual school psychologist services, clerical or other classified support, or an additional hour of evaluation writing time at an employee's hourly per diem rate for each student over the ratio (i.e., a ratio of 1:1050 would generate 50 hours of evaluation writing time). The overload assistance is an entitlement of the entire group of school psychologists, not an individual employee. The type and plan for assignment of additional support to individual employees will be determined in collaboration with the Director of Special Services, the department head (if any), and the school psychologists. The District-wide ratio will be measured on the student day immediately following November 1, January 2, and March 1 to determine the needed additional support for the remainder of the school year.

#### 6. School Counselors and Social Workers

Human Resources will assign counselors and social workers to schools in a manner that recognizes the size and complexity of individual school assignments and minimizes split FTEs and itinerant assignments. The goal will be to attempt to provide equitable workloads.

Position/Year	2024-25	2025-26
Elementary (FTE:K-5 District-wide student headcount)	1:475	1:475
Middle School (FTE:6-8 District-wide student headcount)	1:350	1:300
High School (FTE:9-12 District-wide student headcount)	1:350	1:300

The staffing goals above shall include ESA school and STAR Wellness staff. These ratios shall also include any budgeted counselor or social worker FTEs that are converted to other staff by mutual agreement of the District and Association leadership.

For school counselors and social workers, if the District-wide ratio for a particular level exceeds the staffing goal by 10% or more, the District shall offer overload assistance to school counselors and social workers at that level. The support can include contractual services, clerical or other classified support or additional hours of compensated work hours at the employee's hourly per diem rate for each student

over the ratio (i.e., a middle school ratio of 1:385 would generate 35 additional compensated hours). The overload assistance is an entitlement of the entire group of school counselors/social workers at that level, not an individual employee. The type and plan for assignment of additional support to individual employees will be determined in collaboration with the Director of Human Resources, the District-level coordinator for such services, and the school principals and counselors/social workers at the impacted level. The District-wide ratio will be measured on the student day immediately following November 1, January 2, and March 1 to determine the needed additional support for the remainder of the school year.

#### 7. MLL Teachers

The staffing goal for MLL teachers shall be:

Position/Year	2024-25	<b>Starting 2025-26</b>
MLL (students served)	1:60	1:60

For the MLL staffing goal above, the District will provide overload assistance of 60 minutes of paraeducator time per week or one hour at the employee's hourly per diem rate per FTE student over the goal.

#### 8. ESA Certificated Nurses

The District is committed to staffing at least two (2) ESA Certificated Nurses for the duration of the current Collective Bargaining Agreement.

## **B.** Student Discipline

In the maintenance of a safe and sound learning environment, the District shall expect acceptable behavior on the part of all students who attend schools in the District. Discipline shall be enforced fairly and consistently, following guidelines of state law, including Chapter 392-400 WAC, and District policies and procedures, including Policy 3241 and Procedure 3241P.

The Board, Superintendent and building administrators shall support and uphold employees in their efforts to maintain discipline in the District, and shall give immediate response to all employees' requests regarding discipline problems provided the employee has followed established District policy as referred to below.

In emergency situations regarding the exercise of authority by an employee to control and maintain order and discipline, the employee shall use reasonable and professional judgment concerning matters not provided for by specific policies adopted by the Board.

A document regarding student responsibilities, rights, and due process will be available on the District's website. The building administrator shall meet with staff prior to the students' first day to develop and/or review building standards for administering corrective student discipline and other interventions and the uniform enforcement of those standards, including the identification of the lines of authority in the absence of the principal.

Pursuant to state law, a teacher may exclude a student from the teacher's classroom or instructional or activity area for behavioral violations that disrupt the educational process while the student is under the teacher's immediate supervision. Before excluding a student from the teacher's classroom, the teacher must first attempt one or more other actions in response to the behavioral violation, which may involve the use of best practices and strategies included in the state menu for behavior, to support the student in meeting behavioral expectations. If the teacher excludes the student from the classroom on the grounds that the student's presence poses an immediate and continuing danger to other students or school personnel, or an immediate and continuing threat of material and substantial disruption of the educational process, the teacher must immediately notify the principal or designee. Otherwise, the teacher must report the classroom exclusion and the behavioral violation that led to the classroom exclusion to the principal or designee as soon as reasonably possible. A student may be returned to a classroom with the teacher's consent or when the principal or designee and teacher have conferred. We acknowledge that, pursuant to state law, students will be provided an opportunity to make up any assignments and tests missed during a classroom exclusion.

Classroom exclusion authority is limited by, and subject to, state and federal requirements for students with disabilities. The rights of students with disabilities will be assured by the District through the procedures established under state and federal law, including calling the SST/Section 504 meeting in the case of suspension which approximates the statutory limit for these students.

To assist staff members of students with behavior problems who do not have IEP or Section 504 plans, behavior intervention specialists shall be available for support and consultation.

Timely communication among the educators in a school building is a key strategy for maintaining a positive learning environment, including but not limited to, situations when a student has been excluded from a classroom or learning space. While respecting the privacy rights of students, educators with an educational need to know will receive communications around re-engagement, re-entry, behavior, and safety plans, as well as consequences for students. An educator may seek the opportunity for a restorative conversation with a student who has been excluded from the classroom.

#### C. Controversial Issues

Controversial issues are a part of the District's instructional program when related to subject matter in a given grade level or specific curricular field. As a vital component of academic freedom, employees shall be primarily responsible for making decisions regarding methods and for recommending basic materials used for the instruction of students. This responsibility shall be tempered by the following:

1. Employees will use professional judgment in determining the appropriateness of the issue to the curriculum and the maturity of students. In the presentation of all controversial issues, the employee shall make every effort to effect a balance of biases, divergent points of view, and afford an opportunity for exploration by the students into all sides of the issue. The employee's responsibility shall be to show

objectivity in order that various sides of controversial issues are given. To carry out this responsibility an employee shall be well informed in the areas being studied and present the issues in a manner in which the class perceives the objectives of the study and understands the issues involved and their implications. The appropriate administrator shall review curricular matters of a clearly controversial nature. In the event that a request for reconsideration is made of the classroom curriculum or library materials, formal procedures shall be followed as outlined in Tahoma School District policy.

- 2. In discussing controversial issues, the employee shall encourage students to express their own views, assuring that it be done in a manner that gives due respect to one another's rights and opinions. When discussing controversial issues, the employee shall respect positions other than their own. Students shall be encouraged, after class discussions and independent inquiry, to reach their own conclusions regarding controversial issues.
- 3. In any event materials and methods used will conform to the instructional materials policy of the District and should be appropriate to the grade and/or maturity of the students involved.

## D. Safety/Environment

The District and Association are committed to maintaining a safe working environment for students, employees, and visitors, and to resolving any safety issues or concerns through safety committees at each work site.

Any and all concerns not resolved through the work site safety committee shall be forwarded and channeled through a representative of the District Safety Committee, which shall continue to meet on a regular basis. The District Safety Committee will report back to the work site safety committee with an update regarding the concern.

# E. Faculty Facilities

The District will provide for its staff members a lounge area within each school building that is for their use. Staff lavatories shall be provided.

## F. Liability, Assault or Injury

The District shall provide employees with insurance protection covering those employees while engaged in the maintenance of order and discipline and the protection of school personnel, students, and the property thereof where that is deemed necessary by such employees. Such insurance protection must include, as a minimum, liability insurance covering injury to persons and property and insurance protecting those employees from loss or damage of their personal property incurred while so engaged.

Any case of assault upon an employee shall be promptly reported to the immediate supervisor so that appropriate District action shall be initiated. The District shall promptly

render assistance to the employee in connection with handling of the incident by law enforcement and judicial authorities.

Whenever an employee is absent from employment and unable to perform currently contracted duties as a result of personal injury sustained in the course of employment, the employee will be paid full salary for the period of absence. A portion of sick leave will be used to supplement Workers' Compensation, thereby equaling the employee's full day of pay. If the employee's sick leave is exhausted, then additional sick leave may be requested through Sick Leave Sharing.

The employee shall care for instructional materials and equipment and shall promptly report damage, loss, and theft of equipment, furniture, or fixtures to their supervisor.

#### **G.** Non-Discrimination

There shall be no unlawful discrimination against any employee or applicant for employment by reason of race, creed, religion, color, national origin, age, sex, honorably discharged veteran or military status, sexual orientation, gender expression or identity, the presence of any sensory, mental, or physical disability or the use of a trained dog guide or service animal by a person with a disability, marital status, or because of their membership or non-membership in employee organizations. The Association and the District will cooperate to assure compliance with nondiscrimination laws.

#### ARTICLE VI – EVALUATION

## A. Purpose of Evaluation

The District and Association believe that professional development in the Tahoma School District is rooted in the intrinsic desire to be a life-long learner and provide quality learning experiences for all students. The goal of supervision and evaluation is to promote continual professional growth including the use of research based best practices in a supportive environment with clear performance expectations.

- 1. The principal is an instructional leader and responsible for providing the leadership necessary to create an adult learning community focused on assisting the young people in the District's care to obtain the education they deserve. Principals use the roles of coach, consultant, and evaluator to support staff learning and growth.
- 2. The teacher is a learner. To be an effective learner one must be able to accept that the employee is not perfect and is capable of improving or having a greater understanding of the complex task of teaching young people. Professional growth is supported by an evaluation system that identifies areas of growth as well as areas that meet or exceed standard.
- 3. Where there is room for growth, teachers may have one or more areas that are not yet marked as distinguished or proficient. The system is committed to providing support and partnering with the teacher to improve practice in designated areas of growth over time.
- 4. Ongoing feedback is crucial to continued professional growth. Such feedback must be evidence based including classroom observations and student and teacher artifacts.
- 5. A safe, trusting environment where teachers are respected and valued is needed for constructive feedback.
- 6. Reflection and goal setting is an essential part of professional growth.
- 7. The people who make up our educational system have integrity. Teachers and administrators want to be successful, and that success is based on students learning.
- 8. We have a commitment to due process and fair treatment. Our primary focus remains building a system and climate that is based on the belief that all people want to perform well and care deeply about the success of the students and their colleagues.
- 9. We are committed to communicating to staff issues/concerns regarding performance and committed to working collaboratively to support them over time.

## B. Provisions Applicable to All Employees

#### 1. Classroom teacher

Certificated staff members who provide "academically-focused instruction to students" shall be evaluated using the TPEP evaluation model (either Comprehensive or Focused). See Sections C, D and E below.

#### 2. Non-classroom staff members

Certificated staff members who do not provide "academically-focused instruction to students" shall be evaluated using the locally bargained criteria as contained in this agreement (either BEP or PDP). See Sections F and G below.

## 3. Surveys

Student and/or parent perception data may be collected by the district or by an individual employee through mass surveys or other similar means. An administrator shall not use this data as part of an individual employee's year-end evaluation.

## 4. Recording

All observations shall be conducted openly and in person. Audio, video or electronic devices shall not be used to record any class for the purpose of evaluation without knowledge of the employee. Such records shall not be used for any other purpose without employee permission.

#### 5. Career Assistance

The Association and District will seek or provide funding to create opportunity for employees and administrators to explore career shifts. Individual employees, the Association, or administrators may recommend that an employee take advantage of the career assistance program.

## 6. Representation

An employee shall be entitled, upon request, to have present an Association representative during any meeting related to matters concerning their evaluation for the sole purpose of observation.

#### 7. Evaluator

Within each school, the principal shall be responsible for the evaluation of employees assigned to that school. An employee assigned to more than one (1) school shall be evaluated by the principal at the building where the most time is spent. In the event that time is evenly spent, the principals shall discuss and notify the employee who will be the evaluator.

# 8. Request for Alternate Evaluator

An employee may request in writing to the Director of Human Resources an alternate evaluator. The Director of Human Resources may then designate another individual to perform the evaluation.

#### 9. Grievance

The procedures outlined in this language shall be subject to the Grievance Procedure. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the substantive and subjective aspects of an evaluation are specifically excluded from the Grievance Procedure.

## 10. Required Courses

The District will pay the costs of any course a staff member is required by the District to take. Any additional cost for credit or clock hours will be at the member's option and expense.

#### 11. Other Forms

The supervisor may use a pre-conference form or informal feedback forms. If they so choose to use a form, they shall share the form with their staff as in a faculty meeting before they use the form. The form itself will not be placed in the personnel file.

# C. Provisions Applicable Only to Certificated Classroom Teachers (Both Comprehensive and Focused)

#### 1. Instructional Framework

Classroom teachers will be evaluated using the UW CEL 5D+ TPEP evaluation framework.

## 2. Evaluation Cycle

All classroom teachers shall receive a comprehensive summative evaluation at least once every six years. The following categories of classroom teachers must receive an annual comprehensive summative evaluation: Classroom teachers who are provisional and any classroom teacher who received a comprehensive summative evaluation performance rating of Unsatisfactory or Basic in the previous school year. Classroom teachers who are not required to receive a comprehensive summative evaluation may receive a focused evaluation.

Should an evaluator determine that a teacher on a focused evaluation should be moved to a comprehensive evaluation for that school year, the teacher must be informed of this decision in writing at any time on or before December 15th.

# 3. Professional Development

Prior to being evaluated on the performance evaluation system each teacher shall receive adequate professional development to comprehend the instructional framework, the evaluative rubric, and process.

Before evaluating classroom teachers, principals and administrators will engage in professional development designed to implement the revised systems and maximize rater reliability.

## 4. Electronic Data Collection System

An electronic data collection system will be used to store artifacts and evidence as part of the evaluation process. The electronic data collection system adopted will be Homeroom. Any change to the adopted electronic data collection system will be mutually agreed upon by the District and the Association.

## D. Provisions Applicable to Classroom Teachers on the Comprehensive Evaluation

#### 1. Self-Reflection

The teacher will complete and share with the teacher's evaluator a self-reflection of their performance under the instructional framework no later than October 1 and again no later than May 1.

# 2. Goal Setting

- a. Prior to October 15 (or as soon as practical for teachers hired after October 1), the teacher and evaluator shall discuss professional goals, student growth measures and student growth goals to be used for the year.
- b. Student growth measures will be taken from multiple sources identified by the teacher and must be appropriate and relevant to the teacher's assignment. Student achievement data must measure growth between two points in time. The goal for Student Growth Goals 3.1, 6.1 and 8.1 may use the same student growth measures.

## 3. Gathering of Evidence

- a. Evidence is observed practice, products or results of the teacher's work that demonstrates knowledge and skills of the educator with respect to the four-level rating system. Both the teacher and the evaluator shall contribute evidence to the overall assessment of professional performance. Evidence shall include artifacts produced, or resulting from, the normal course of professional performance during the school year.
- b. An accurate evaluation requires that documented evidence reflecting upon performance be used in the evaluation of the employee. For the purposes of

- professional growth, fairness requires that employees be made aware in a timely manner, of the evidence that will be used in their evaluation.
- c. The District commits to documenting evidence of performance readily available via observations and conversations to the greatest extent possible so as to lessen the time required to compile additional artifacts. If, after completing the minimum required observations, both the teacher and evaluator agree on the score for a criterion, no additional evidence is required to be collected for that criterion. It is the intent of the parties that every effort will be made to provide and collect ample evidence of proficiency. It is the nature and quality of the evidence, not the amount that determines its rating. Principals may request evidence in areas not yet consistent with a proficient rating but may not require a specific amount of evidence or number of artifacts.

#### 4. Observations

Observations are one type of evidence of professional performance relevant to the evaluative criteria.

- a. Each teacher shall be observed in the course of professional performance at least two times for a minimum total of 60 minutes.
- b. Within the 60 minutes required above, new employees shall be observed at least once for a minimum total of 30 minutes during the first 90 calendar days of employment.
- c. Teachers in their third year of provisional status shall be observed at least three times for a minimum total of 90 minutes.
- d. At least one observation must be completed prior to the mid-year formative conference.
- e. At least one observation must be pre-scheduled.
- f. Additional "walk-throughs," with or without pre-observation and/or postobservation conferences, may be completed at any time. Information to be used in the evaluation must be shared with the teacher prior to completion of the summative evaluation.

# 5. Pre-Observation and Post-Observation Conferencing

- a. A pre-observation conference is optional at the request of the teacher or evaluator.
- b. The purpose of the pre-observation conference is to discuss matters such as the employee's student growth goals, the professional activities to be observed, the content, objectives, and strategies of the lesson, the length of

the observation and possible observable evidence to meet the scoring criteria.

c. A post-observation conference is optional at the request of the teacher or evaluator.

#### 6. Mid-year formative conference

A mid-year formative conference shall be held on or before the last day of February to discuss:

- a. a formative evaluation of the teacher's performance to date;
- b. where that performance rates on the instructional framework rubric; and
- c. where additional evidence and support is needed.

#### 7. Summative Conference

- a. An annual evaluation conference shall be completed at least two weeks prior to the end of each school year. Each required criterion shall be rated based on the components in that criterion and discussed collaboratively. This analysis will be based on a holistic assessment of the teacher's performance. If there is a dispute between the evaluator and the employee regarding the rating, the parties shall have an opportunity to submit additional evidence. The final decision is the responsibility of the evaluator.
- b. Two copies of the final evaluation shall be signed by both the evaluator and teacher to document receipt and completion only and shall be submitted to the Human Resources office no later than the last day of the school year. The signature of the teacher does not imply that the employee agrees with its contents.

# 8. Criterion Level Scoring

Criterion level scoring shall be determined as follows:

# components	2	3	4	5	6	7	Criteria Score
Total Subscore	8	12	16	20	24	28	
						28	
						27	Distinguished
					24	26	4
					23	25	
				20	22	24	
				19	21	23	
			16	18	20	22	
			15	17	19	21	Proficient
		12	14	16	18	20	3
		11	13	15	17	19	
	8	10	12	14	16	18	
	7	9	11	13	15	17	
	6	8	10	12	14	16	
	5	7	9	11	13	15	
	4	6	8	10	12	14	Basic
	3*	5	7	9	11	13	2
	2	4	6*	8	10	12	
		3	5	7	9*	11	
			4	6	8	10	
				5	7	9	Unsatisfactory
					6	8	1
						7	

<sup>3\*</sup> The teacher and administrator will have a conversation about whether the component will be scored as Basic or Unsatisfactory prior to the administrator assigning a score.

<sup>6\*</sup> If a majority of the components are Unsatisfactory then the overall criterion will be scored as Unsatisfactory. If the components are evenly scored, then the teacher and administrator will have a conversation about the components prior to the administrator determining a final criterion score.

<sup>9\*</sup> If a majority of the components are Unsatisfactory then the overall criterion will be scored as Unsatisfactory. If the components are evenly scored, then the teacher and administrator will have a conversation about the components prior to the administrator determining a final criterion score.

# 9. Summative Performance Rating for Comprehensive Evaluation

A classroom teacher shall receive a summative performance rating for each of the eight (8) state evaluation criteria. The overall summative score is determined by totaling the eight (8) criterion-level scores as follows:

1 = 8-14 Unsatisfactory

2 = 15-21 Basic

3 = 22-28 Proficient

4 = 29-32 Distinguished\*

\*A classroom teacher with a preliminary rating of Distinguished and a Low student growth rating will receive an overall Proficient rating.

#### 10. Student Growth Scoring

a. Evaluators total the raw score on the five (5) student growth indicators embedded in the instructional framework (3.1, 3.2, 6.1, 6.2, and 8.1). The classroom teacher is given a score of Low, Average or High based on the scores below:

5-12 - Low

13-17 – Average

18-20 - High

In addition, a student growth score of 1 (Unsatisfactory) in any of the rubric rows will result in an overall Low student growth impact rating.

- b. Classroom teachers with a Low student growth rating will engage with their evaluator in a student growth inquiry pursuant to WAC 392-191A-100.
- c. Classroom teachers with a preliminary rating of Distinguished and a Low student growth rating will receive an overall Proficient rating. Classroom teachers with a preliminary rating of Distinguished and an Average or High student growth rating will receive an overall Distinguished rating.
- d. Classroom teachers with a preliminary rating of Basic or Proficient and a Low, Average or High student growth rating will receive an overall rating that is the same as the preliminary rating.
- e. The evaluations of classroom teachers with a preliminary rating of Unsatisfactory and a High student growth rating will be reviewed by the evaluator's supervisor who may adjust the final rating.

# E. Provisions Applicable to Classroom Teachers on the Focused Evaluation Model

1. In the years when a comprehensive summative evaluation is not required, classroom teachers who received a comprehensive summative evaluation performance rating of Proficient or Distinguished in the previous school year may complete a focused evaluation.

#### 2. Self-reflection

Same as Comprehensive. See Section D.1 above.

# 3. Goal Setting

Same as Comprehensive. See Section D.2 above.

## 4. Gathering of Evidence

Same as Comprehensive. See Section D.3 above.

#### 5. Observations

Observations are one type of evidence of professional performance relevant to the evaluative criteria.

- a. Each teacher shall be observed in the course of professional performance at least two times for a minimum total of 60 minutes.
- b. At least one observation must be pre-scheduled.
- c. Additional "walk-throughs," with or without pre-observation and/or postobservation conferences, may be completed at any time. Information to be used in the evaluation must be shared with the teacher prior to completion of the summative evaluation.

## 6. Pre-Observation and Post-Observation Conferencing

Same as Comprehensive. See Section D.5 above.

#### 7. Mid-Year Formative Conference

A mid-year formative conference may be held on or before the last day of February at the request of the teacher or evaluator to discuss:

- a. a formative evaluation of the teacher's performance to date;
- b. where that performance rates on the instructional framework rubric; and
- c. where additional evidence and support is needed.

#### 8. Summative conference

Same as Comprehensive. See Section D.7 above.

# 9. Overall Summative Performance Rating

A summative score is assigned using the summative score from the most recent comprehensive evaluation. This score becomes the focused summative evaluation score for any of the subsequent years following the comprehensive summative evaluation in which the classroom teacher is placed on a focused evaluation. Should a teacher provide evidence of exemplary practice on the chosen focused criterion, a level 4 (Distinguished) score may be awarded by the evaluator.

#### 10. Student Growth Measures

The focused evaluation will include the student growth rubrics of the selected criterion. If criterion 3, 6 or 8 is selected, evaluators will use those student growth rubrics. If criterion 1, 2, 4, 5, or 7 is selected, evaluators will use the student growth rubrics in criterion 3 or 6, as selected by the teacher.

# F. Provisions Applicable Only to Non-Classroom Staff on a Basic Evaluation Plan (BEP)

1. The following staff members will be evaluated on a Basic Evaluation Plan (BEP): provisional contract employees, employees with a formal plan of improvement, employees who have been removed from PDP in accordance with Section G.3 below, or employees on probation.

# 2. Goal Setting

Prior to October 15 (or as soon as practical for teachers hired after October 1), the employee and evaluator shall discuss professional goals to be used for the year.

#### 3. Observations

Observations are one type of evidence of professional performance relevant to the evaluative criteria.

- a. Each employee shall be observed in the course of professional performance at least two times for a minimum total of 60 minutes.
- b. Within the 60 minutes required above, new employees shall be observed at least once for a minimum total of 30 minutes during the first 90 calendar days of employment.
- c. Employees in their third year of provisional status shall be observed at least three times for a minimum total of 90 minutes.

- d. At least one observation must be completed prior to the mid-year formative conference.
- e. At least one observation must be pre-scheduled.
- f. Additional "walk-throughs," with or without pre-observation and/or postobservation conferences, may be completed at any time. Information to be used in the evaluation must be shared with the employee prior to completion of the summative evaluation.

# 4. Pre-Observation and Post-Observation Conferencing

- a. A pre-observation conference is optional at the request of the employee or evaluator.
- b. The purpose of the pre-observation conference is to discuss matters such as the professional activities to be observed, the content, objectives, and strategies of the professional activity, the length of the observation and possible observable evidence to meet the scoring criteria.
- c. A post-observation conference is optional at the request of the employee or evaluator.

# 5. Mid-year formative conference

A mid-year formative conference shall be held on or before the last day of February to discuss:

- a. a formative evaluation of the employee's performance to date;
- b. where that performance rates on the evaluative criteria; and
- c. where additional evidence and support is needed.

#### **6.** Summative Conference

- a. An annual evaluation conference shall be completed at least two weeks prior to the end of each school year. Each required criterion shall be rated based on the components in that criterion and discussed collaboratively. This analysis will be based on a holistic assessment of the employee's performance. If there is a dispute between the evaluator and the employee regarding the rating, the parties shall have an opportunity to submit additional evidence. The final decision is the responsibility of the evaluator.
- b. Two copies of the final evaluation shall be signed by both the evaluator and employee to document receipt and completion only and shall be submitted to the Human Resources office no later than the last day of the school year.

The signature of the teacher does not imply that the employee agrees with its contents.

# G. Provisions Applicable Only to Non-Classroom Staff on a Professional Development Plan (PDP)

- 1. Staff members not on BEP are on PDP. A staff member will remain on a PDP unless they are removed as defined below.
- 2. Program coordinators, peers, and deans of students (in lieu of the principal) may play the role of coach or facilitator within the PDP process.

# 3. Overview of Professional Development Plan

- a. Professional Development Plans are designed to encourage and support the professional enrichment and growth of staff members in the District. Data generated while a staff member is under the PDP plan belongs to the staff member and may not be used in an employment decision.
- b. The staff member with the evaluator and, if appropriate, peer will work together to articulate a Professional Development Plan (use Addendum 7) and will meet formally and informally throughout the year to discuss progress of goals.
- c. Supervisors will determine a schedule over the course of the school year for goal development. Goals may be for more than one year. Goals should be developed collaboratively by the staff member, the supervisor and, if appropriate, peers.
- d. A final meeting with the supervisor, staff member and peer coach(s) will be held to analyze data, review success of goals and to sign the verification form for the personnel file.

## 4. Filing

The original copy of the PDP Verification Form shall be filed in the staff member's personnel file in the District's Human Resource Department.

## 5. Removal from Professional Development Plan (PDP)

a. If after conducting "walk-throughs", goal setting, informal observations, communication and discussions regarding area(s) of needed support, and other interactions with the employee over time, the supervisor concludes a non-provisional staff member on PDP no longer approaches or meets standards or has ceased to work toward, or ceased to make sustained progress toward meeting standards, the supervisor will notify the staff member and the Human Resources Department that the staff member is invoking the need for the employee to be placed on a Basic Evaluation Plan

- (BEP). The staff member shall be informed of the supervisor's decision to be placed on the BEP evaluation format prior to October 1. The supervisor will provide the Director of Human Resources with a brief statement of the supervisor's perceptions of the problem.
- b. The Human Resources Department, in collaboration with the Association, will coordinate the selection of an individual to support and assist the staff member in meeting area(s) of deficiency identified. The staff member, the supervisor, the identified support individual, and Association representative, if requested, shall meet to identify the specific area(s) of needed support. The role of the support individual is to promote growth, not to evaluate. No information shared between the evaluator and the support individual may be used as the basis for evaluation.
- c. Following one year, the supervisor may determine that adequate growth has been attained in which case the staff member can be returned to a PDP. If adequate growth has not been attained, the BEP process may continue.

## H. Non-Probationary Plans of Assistance

- 1. The District shall require the following employees to participate in a non-probationary plan of assistance:
  - a. Any continuing contract employee covered under the evaluation procedures set forth in Section F or G above (non-classroom staff members) who receives an unsatisfactory evaluation at the end of the previous school year;
  - b. Any continuing contract employee covered under the evaluation procedures set forth in Section F or G above (non-classroom staff members) who has had a minimum of two (2) formal observations (for a total observation time of no less than sixty minutes) which indicate the employee has serious performance deficiencies in one (1) or more areas defined in the observation and evaluation criteria in which instance such plan of assistance may be implemented at any time after the conclusion of the two required observations; and
  - c. Any continuing contract employee covered under the evaluation procedures set forth in Section D or E above (classroom teachers) with more than five years of teaching experience who has received a Level 2 (Basic) rating at the end of the previous school year.
- 2. The District may require the following employees to participate in a non-probationary plan of assistance:
  - a. Any provisional employee;
  - b. Any continuing contract employee covered under the evaluation procedures set forth in Section C or D above (classroom teachers) with five or fewer

years of teaching experience who has received a Level 2 (Basic) rating at the end of the previous school year.

- 3. For employees participating in non-probationary plans of assistance under subsections 1 and 2 above, the administrator, the employee, the Association and District shall attempt to develop a mutually agreeable written plan with appropriate support, resources and intervention strategies designed to improve the employee's effectiveness and to prevent the need to place the employee on probation. At least one (1) additional formal observation shall be held to determine if the employee has made sufficient progress in the identified areas of deficiencies. Said formal observation(s) shall not be conducted unless three (3) weeks have elapsed from the time of completion of the remediation plan.
- 4. The evaluations of certificated classroom teachers with a rating of Unsatisfactory whose immediately preceding evaluation rating was Distinguished or Proficient will be reviewed by the evaluator's supervisor.

#### I. Probation

Employees shall be placed on probation subject to the following:

- 1. At any time after October 15, an employee whose work is not judged satisfactory based on district evaluation criteria shall be notified in writing by the Superintendent that the employee is being placed on probation commencing on the date identified in the notice.
- 2. For classroom teachers who have been transitioned to the revised evaluation system, the following comprehensive summative evaluation performance ratings mean a classroom teacher's work is "not judged satisfactory" as that term is used in subsection 1 above: Level 1 (Unsatisfactory); or Level 2 (Basic) if the classroom teacher is a continuing contract employee with more than five years of teaching experience and if the level 2 (Basic) comprehensive summative evaluation performance rating has been received for two consecutive years or for two years within a consecutive three-year time period.
- 3. The written notice of probation shall enumerate the specific areas of deficiency along with a reasonable program for improvement. In addition to the support and assistance of a second evaluator under paragraph 7 below, a reasonable program for improvement shall identify the satisfactory levels of performance to be achieved in the areas of deficiency and the supports or assistance offered to help the employee improve in those areas.
- 4. All written communications to the employee shall be served upon the employee personally or sent by certified or registered mail or by leaving a copy of the notice at the house of their usual abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein.

- 5. A probationary period shall be established beginning any time after October 15, for a minimum of sixty (60) days, and ending no later than May 1. The purpose of the probationary period is to give the employee the opportunity to demonstrate improvement in their areas of deficiencies.
- 6. During the probationary period the evaluator shall meet with the employee at least twice monthly to evaluate the progress being made on the remediation plan during the remediation process. A written evaluation of this progress will be provided in a timely fashion to the employee after each meeting.

## 7. Second Evaluator During Probation

- a. The evaluator shall identify one additional non-bargaining unit certificated employee to evaluate the probationer and aid the employee in improving the employee's areas of deficiency.
- b. The second evaluator shall provide a written evaluation of the employee's performance to the evaluator, and provide a copy to the employee, no later than the conclusion of the probationary period. The evaluation shall be based on multiple observations of performance and a review of other available evidence, with a particular emphasis on the areas of deficiencies identified by the evaluator and any areas of disagreement identified and brought to the attention of the second evaluator by the employee. This evaluation shall use the district evaluation criteria and scoring methodologies in this Article to produce an overall summative score.
- c. Separate from this second evaluator, both the District and the Association reserve the right to appoint additional experts of their own choosing at any time to observe and evaluate the employee's performance.
- 8. Upon the conclusion of the probationary period, the evaluator shall evaluate the employee's progress in remediating the employee's performance and provide a report to the employee and the Superintendent.
- 9. If a procedural error occurs in the implementation of a program for improvement, the error does not invalidate the probationer's plan for improvement or evaluation activities unless the error materially affects the effectiveness of the plan or the ability to evaluate the probationer's performance.
- 10. The Superintendent will fully consider all the evidence and facts of each particular case before deciding probable cause or causes exist for non-renewal of an employee's contract. In the event the Superintendent determines that there is probable cause or causes that the employment contract of an employee should not be renewed by the District for the next ensuing term, such employee shall be so notified in writing on or before May 15, preceding the commencement of such term. Such notification shall specify the cause or causes for non-renewal of contract.

11. Every such employee so notified at their request made in writing and filed with the Board within ten (10) days after receiving such notice, shall be granted opportunity for hearing to determine whether there is sufficient cause or causes for non-renewal of contract. If any such notification or opportunity for hearing is not timely given, the employee entitled thereto shall be conclusively presumed to have been reemployed by the District for the next ensuing term upon contractual terms identical with those which would have prevailed if their employment had actually been renewed by the Board for such ensuing term.

#### ARTICLE VII – REDUCTION IN FORCE

#### A. General Provisions

The Board will determine the educational program adopted by the district. The Superintendent will develop a list of employees to be recommended to the Board for a Reduction in Force if necessary, in a given year to operate that educational program. For the purpose of this section, administrators may be reassigned as employees consistent with their experience and qualifications as employees set out below.

#### **B.** Definitions

Employees will be considered for retention in the employment category or categories for which qualified by either experience or training.

# 1. Experience and Training

## a. Experience

An employee is qualified by experience in any given category if assigned at least two (2) periods per day for at least one (1) semester in that specific category during the current or preceding five (5) years.

#### b. Training

An employee is qualified by training in any given category if the employee meets the requirements for federal law (if any) in the subject, holds current certification/endorsement for the subject, or has the equivalent of 45 quarter credits in the subject area.

# 2. Categories

Employees will be considered for retention in one or more of the following categories:

- a. Elementary classroom teaching (K through grade 5)
- b. Secondary classroom teaching (grades 6-12): Art, Language Arts, World Language (by each individual language to be offered), Alternative Education, Mathematics, Science, Social Studies, Traffic Safety Education, or CTE Endorsement including middle level technology
- c. Support Services and Specialists: Counselors, Librarians, Multilingual Learner Specialists, K-12 Health and Fitness Teachers, Music Specialists (by each individual program to be offered), School Nurse, Social Workers, Curriculum and Instruction Specialists, or Mental Health & Wellness Program Coordinator

d. Special Education: Special Education Preschool Teacher, Elementary Special Education Teacher, Secondary Special Education Teacher, Speech Language Pathologists, Occupational Therapist, Physical Therapist, Vision Specialist, School Psychologist, or Behavior Intervention Specialists. An appropriate special education teacher certificate or satisfactory experience recognized by the District is required for qualification as a secondary or elementary special education teacher.

# 3. Part Time Employees

Less than 1.0 FTE employees will have seniority as established by this section. These employees will not be eligible for increased FTE or contract conditions other than those held at the time of retention determination.

## C. Seniority

In establishing seniority for the purpose of Reduction in Force, the following criteria will be applied in the order in which they are listed to the employees covered by this section:

- 1. In order to qualify for ranking, the employee must possess such valid Washington State certification or other licenses or certificates as may be required by state law and regulations.
- 2. Employees will be placed into categories consistent with Article VII, Section B.
- 3. Employees identified above will be ranked as to length of contracted service as recognized by the District. Less than a full year of experience will be recognized as to the actual number of contracted days, converted to FTE.
  - a. In the event ties exist in the application above, those employees will be ranked as to column placement on the District salary schedule.
  - b. In the event ties still exist, a doctorate degree, master's degree, or baccalaureate degree as recognized by the District for salary purposes, will be recognized in that order.
  - c. In the event ties still exist, those employees within the category with the greatest number of credits accepted by the District toward progression on the District salary schedule will be ranked ahead of those employees with fewer credits.
  - d. In the event ties still exist, the length of contracted experience in the Tahoma School District shall prevail.
  - e. In the event ties still exist, TPEP summative evaluation scores will be used.
  - f. In the event ties still exist, the length of experience in the category will prevail.

# 4. Ranking Order (Seniority)

- a. Employees will be placed into categories based on experience. All employees will be listed in descending order in conformance with Article VII, Sections A, B and C. No later than March 10, an initial preliminary list will be ordered from the last to most senior employee and will include present assignment and other categories for which qualified. Employees who wish to appeal their placement on the seniority list have a three-level appeal process. An employee must meet the timelines at each level to move to subsequent levels of appeal. If any of the dates fall on a day not part of the standard employment contract for staff, then the deadline will be moved to the next such workday.
- b. Employees who have additional information regarding experience and/or training will identify additional categories for which they believe to be qualified on a "Request for Consideration Form". This form must be received in the Human Resources Department no later than March 20. Information, as submitted by the employee and verified by the District Human Resources Department, will be used in determining Reduction in Force decisions.
- c. Any changes to the ranking order list as a result of Article VII, Section C.4.b will be reflected in a final ranking order list to be completed and communicated to Association members no later than March 27.
- d. Appeals to Final Ranking Order List: An employee who wishes to object to the final ranking order list must file a written appeal with the Human Resources Director. Such appeal will be submitted no later than April 3 and will include a full statement as to the facts on which the employee contends the list should be modified and recommended modification to be made. Disposition of the employee's appeal for modification will be completed no later than April 8. If the employee remains dissatisfied with the decision of the Human Resources Director, the employee may appeal that decision to the Board no later than April 15. The Board will hear the employee's appeal on the same evening as their last regularly scheduled board meeting in April. The Board's written decision will be communicated to the employee no later than May 5. Any changes to the official seniority list will be communicated to all employees.

# **Appeal Timelines**

The chart below shows the timelines listed above. An employee must meet the timelines at each level to move to subsequent levels of appeal. If any of the above dates fall on a day not part of the standard employment contract for staff, then the deadline will be moved to the next such workday.

Topic:	Completed no later than:
Initial preliminary list	March 10
Level 1: Request for consideration form	March 20
Final ranking order list	March 27
Level 2: Appeal to HR Director	April 3
Response from HR Director	April 8
Level 3: Request for Appeal to Board	April 15
Appeal to Board	Last regular meeting in April
Board Decision communicated	May 5

## D. Selection for Layoff

Staff selection will be made from the seniority list in descending order, from most to least senior employee, on the basis of the criteria listed above.

In the event an employee qualified above is not available for assignment within the present staff, the District will employ such additional certificated employees as may be required to staff the adopted educational program.

A list of employees to be non-renewed will be communicated to the Association on or before May 15.

When an employee is assigned to a category other than that held at the time of implementation of these procedures, the evaluations of the employee, during the initial year of assignment, will bear the notation that the evaluation is for an assignment other than that held at the time of implementation of these procedures.

# **E.** Provisions for Re-Employment

Employees non-renewed as the result of reduction in force will be placed on an employment list according to seniority as of May 15 of the school year in which the decision to non-renew was made. The employee will have priority, in that order, in the filling of an open position for which qualified above until October 1 of the school year succeeding the school year in which the employee will be non-renewed (approximately 17 months). Individuals hired from said list will retain all rights and benefits accrued prior to non-renewal.

Individuals included on the employment list will inform Human Resources of any change in personal information (name, address, phone number), availability, or eligibility for employment. Offers for employment by the District will be in writing and delivered in person or by certified mail. A copy of each offer will be communicated to the Association.

An individual will forfeit rights to employment as provided in this section if the individual signs a certificated employee contract with another District or does not accept the offer of employment as an employee with this District within five (5) working days and report for work within eleven (11) working days from date of offer provided. However, no individual will forfeit rights to employment by virtue of signing or refusing to sign a limited contract with this District or by refusing a position with a lesser number of hours than that held during the year in which non-renewed.

# F. Provisions for Reduction of Employees (ROE) Leave

The District will allow a number not to exceed five percent (5%) of the retained employees leave in accordance with the following:

- 1. The employee requesting ROE leave will file an application for ROE leave (form) with Human Resources.
- 2. The District will have the right to deny such leave in writing if the District considers said applicant essential to the orderly and effective operation of the educational program during the ensuing school year or if a qualified replacement is not included on the District employment list.
- 3. ROE leave will be granted for one (1) full contracted year only to permit the District to employ a qualified individual included on the employment list.
- 4. No employee will be granted ROE leave for more than one (1) year in duration and no employee may receive two (2) such leaves under this section.
- 5. The position of the employee on leave will be filled by a qualified individual included on the District's employment list. Said individual will not have continuing employment rights to the position to which temporarily assigned.
- 6. Said leave will in no way exempt the employee on leave from reduction consistent with these procedures during the ensuing or subsequent school years.
- 7. This subsection will in no way limit the District in the operation or management of the District educational program.
- 8. Employees taking leave under this subsection will be re-employed for the ensuing school year provided there is a position available for which the employee is qualified above.
- 9. Employees on leave will accrue no rights or benefits while on leave. If the employee returns to the District immediately following the year of leave, seniority and employee benefits will be reinstated at the level accrued at such time as the leave was granted or at such level as that agreed upon in a successor agreement.

#### ARTICLE VIII – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

### A. Definitions

- 1. "Grievant" shall mean an employee or group of employees or the Association filing a grievance.
- 2. "Grievance" shall mean a claim by a grievant that a dispute or disagreement exists involving the interpretation or application of the terms of this Agreement.
- 3. "Party in Interest" is the person(s) making the claim and any person who might be required to take action or against whom action might be taken in order to resolve the claim.
- 4. "Days" shall mean working days except as noted in Section E1 of this procedure.

### **B.** Rights to Representation

- 1. The Board shall recognize a Professional Rights and Responsibility Committee upon its selection by the Association. At least one committee representative shall be present for any meetings, hearings, appeals, or other proceeding relating to a grievance which has been formally presented unless the grievant formally requests otherwise.
- 2. If, in the judgment of the Association, as determined through its constitutional procedures, a grievance affects a group of employees or the Association, the Association may initiate and submit such grievance in writing to the Superintendent directly and the processing of such grievance shall be commenced at Level 2. The Association may process such a grievance through all levels of the procedure. A grievance involving more than one (1) supervisor and grievance involving the administrator not at the building level may be filed by the Association at Level 2.
- 3. In matters dealing with alleged violations of Association rights, the grievance shall be initiated at Level 2.
- 4. The Association, on its own, may continue and submit to arbitration any grievances filed and later dropped by a grievant, provided that the grievance involved the application or interpretation of the Agreement and was not resolved through other legal means, or such a resolution pending.

# C. Individual Rights

1. Nothing contained herein shall be construed as limiting the right of any employee having a complaint to discuss the matter via administrative channels and to have the issue resolved without the intervention of the Association, as long as the Association is notified in writing as to the disposition and that the disposition of the matter is consistent with the terms of this Agreement.

2. A grievant may be represented at all stages of the grievance procedure by their self, or at their option, by an Association representative selected by the Association. If an aggrieved party is not represented by the Association, the Association shall have the right to be present and to state its views at all stages of the grievance procedure unless the grievant specifically requests otherwise.

### D. Procedure

#### 1. Informal Meeting with the Supervisor

The parties in interest acknowledge that it is usually most desirable for an employee and their immediately involved supervisor to resolve problems through free and informal communications. The employee may request Association representative(s) to attend this informal meeting(s) for the purpose of helping to clarify and articulate the concern, as well as describing potential area(s) of conflict with the Negotiated Agreement.

#### 2. Level 1 Written Grievance

Following the informal meeting with the supervisor, and within twenty (20) working days of the time following knowledge of the act or condition which is the basis of the complaint, the grievant may present a written grievance to the immediately involved supervisor. The supervisor shall provide the aggrieved party with a written response to the grievance within ten (10) working days after the receipt of the written grievance.

### 3. Level 2 Superintendent

If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of their grievance at Level 1, then the grievant shall have ten (10) working days in which to refer their grievance to the Superintendent or their official designee. Upon receipt of the Level 2 grievance, the Superintendent or their official designee shall arrange for a mutually-agreeable date and time for a hearing with the grievant and/or the Association, to take place within ten (10) working days. The parties in interest shall have the right to include in the representation such witnesses and counselors as they deem necessary to develop facts pertinent to the grievance. Upon conclusion of the hearing, the Superintendent will have ten (10) working days to provide their written decision, together with the reasons for the decision to the grievant.

#### 4. Level 3 Arbitration

If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of their grievance at Level 2, the grievant may with ten (10) working days after receiving the written response from the Superintendent, request in writing that the Association submit their grievance to arbitration. If the Association determines that the grievance involved the interpretation, meaning, or application of any of the provisions of this Agreement, it may, by written notice to the Superintendent, within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the request from the aggrieved person, submit the grievance to binding

arbitration. If any question arises as to whether the issue is arbitrable, such question will first be ruled upon by the arbitrator selected to hear the dispute and will be based on whether the dispute involved an interpretation, meaning, or application of the terms of this Agreement.

Within a fifteen (15) day period from the date of the written notice of submission to arbitration, a request for an arbitrator will be made to an arbitration association. The parties will thereafter be bound by the rules and procedures of the designated arbitration association.

Neither party shall be permitted to assert in the arbitration proceedings any evidence that was not submitted to the other party before the completion of Level 2 meetings. Unless amended by the arbitrator, the arbitrator will hold hearings promptly and will issue a decision not later than twenty (20) days from the date of the close of the hearings, or if oral hearings have been waived, then from the date the final statements and proofs are submitted to them. The arbitrator's decision will be in writing and will set forth their findings of fact, reasoning, and conclusions on the issue submitted. The arbitrator will be without power or authority to make any decision that requires the commission of an act prohibited by law. The arbitrator shall rule on the interpretation of the terms of the contract and may not alter or revise the terms of the contract. The decision of the arbitrator will be conclusive, will be submitted to the Board and the Association, will henceforth constitute the accepted interpretation of the disputed matter and will be final and binding upon the parties.

The arbitrator shall have no power or authority to rule on any of the following:

- a. The termination of services of, or failure to re-employ any provisional employee.
- b. Any matter involving employee evaluation, provided that evaluation procedure shall be subject to the arbitrator's review.
- c. Any matter involving employee probation procedures, discharge, non-renewal, adverse effect or reduction in force.

The costs for the services of an arbitrator, including per diem expenses, if any, and their travel subsistence expenses and the cost of any hearing room, will be borne equally by the District and the Association. All other costs will be borne by the party incurring them.

#### E. Miscellaneous Provisions

#### 1. Time Limits

The accompanying chart shows the timelines listed above. An employee must meet the timelines at each level to move to subsequent levels of appeal. Failure of the grievant or the Association to comply with any time limits specified in this procedure shall constitute withdrawal of the grievance. Failure of the District to respond to a written grievance within the time limits specified in this procedure shall allow the grievant to move the grievance to the next step of the grievance procedure.

The District and Association may mutually agree in writing to extend the time limits at any one of the steps. If any of the above dates fall on a day not part of the standard employment contract for staff, then the deadline will be moved to the next such workday.

When a grievance is submitted on or after June 1, time limits shall consist of all weekdays (excluding observed holidays), so that the matter may be resolved before the close of the school term or as soon as possible thereafter.

# 2. No Reprisals

No reprisals of any kind will be taken by the Board or the District against any employee because of their participation in this grievance procedure.

# 3. Cooperation between the Association and the District

The District and the Association will cooperate in the investigation of any grievance.

# 4. Financial Responsibilities

If hearings or any occasions initiated by the Superintendent or their official designee require that an employee or an Association representative be released from their regular assignment for the purpose of investigating or processing a grievance, then that employee or Association representative shall be released without loss of pay or benefits.

#### 5. Personnel Files

All documents, communications, and records dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed separately from the personnel files of the participants.

#### 6. Grievance Forms

Any forms required for filing grievance, serving notices, taking appeals, reports and recommendations, and other necessary documents will be prepared jointly by the Superintendent and the Association so as to facilitate operation of the grievance procedure. The costs of preparing such forms shall be shared by the District and the Association.

#### **Grievance Timelines**

This chart summarizes the grievance timelines. An employee must meet the timelines at each level to move to subsequent levels of appeal. Failure of the grievant or the Association to comply with any time limits specified in this procedure shall constitute withdrawal of the grievance. Failure of the District to respond to a written grievance within the time limits specified in this procedure shall allow the grievant to move the grievance to the next step of the grievance procedure.

The District and Association may mutually agree in writing to extend the time limits at any one of the steps. If any of the above dates fall on a day not part of the standard employment contract for staff, then the deadline will be moved to the next such workday. When a grievance is submitted on or after June 1, time limits shall consist of all weekdays (excluding observed holidays), so that the matter may be resolved before the close of the school term or as soon as possible thereafter.

Topic	Completed no later than:
Informal meeting with supervisor	Level 1
Level 1: Written grievance to supervisor	20 working days after employee is aware of the act or condition
Written response from supervisor	10 working days
Level 2: Written appeal to Superintendent	10 working days
Meeting with Superintendent	10 working days
Written response from Superintendent	10 working days following the meeting
Level 3: Notify the Association to pursue arbitration	10 working days
The Association notifies district of intent to file for arbitration	15 working days
Request for arbitration	15 working days
Arbitrator's hearing and decision	20 working days, unless amended by the arbitrator

#### ARTICLE IX – TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT

# A. Recognition

The Association shall be the sole representative of all the certificated personnel employed, or to be employed, by the Board with the exception of the Superintendent, the Deputy Superintendent, Assistant Superintendent, Directors, the District Athletic Coordinator, principals, associate principals, and assistant principals.

After a substitute works thirty (30) days in the current school year or is hired to work in excess of twenty (20) consecutive days in the current school year, the substitute will be included in the bargaining unit provided that only the following sections will apply to substitutes: Article IX, Section H.5; Article IV, Sections A and B and Article V, Sections B, C, E, and F. Access to the grievance procedure shall apply for those provisions. Casual day-to-day substitutes are paid the substitute rate of pay.

Twenty (20) consecutive-day in the same school year, substitutes shall be paid at their salary schedule placement on the 21st day, retroactive to day one.

#### B. Gender

Unless the context in which they are used clearly requires otherwise, words used in this Agreement denoting gender shall include both the masculine and feminine.

# C. Status of the Agreement

This Agreement shall become effective when ratified and signed by the Board and the Association. No change in this Agreement either in whole or in part shall be valid unless ratified and signed by the parties.

Individual contracts between the District and individual employees shall be subject to and consistent with the terms of this Agreement. If an individual contract contains any language inconsistent with this Agreement, this Agreement, during its duration, shall be controlling.

This Agreement shall supersede language in District rules, regulations, or policies, which is inconsistent with its terms.

Association representatives may meet with the Superintendent or their designee at mutually agreeable times during the school year to review problems and practices concerned with the administration of this Agreement.

With the approval of the Superintendent, the District shall supply the Association with the information that the Association deems necessary for negotiations.

# D. Entire Agreement

The Agreement expressed herein in writing constitutes commitments between both parties and may be altered, changed, added to, or modified only through the voluntary, mutual consent of the parties in written and signed amendment.

# E. Conformity to Law

If any provision of this Agreement or any application of this agreement to any employee covered hereby shall be found contrary to law, such provision or application shall have effect only to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

# F. Variance Requests

Building or programs may apply for variances to specific provisions of this Agreement to both the Association and the District. Variances, if approved, will be for specific time periods agreed to by the parties. The Association and the District may agree to a joint variance process or each may apply its own criteria.

# G. Printing/Distribution

Within a reasonable time following the ratification and signing of this Agreement by the parties, the Association shall distribute an electronic copy of the Agreement to each certificated employee. Upon individual request, a printed copy will be provided. Prior to printing, the cost shall be agreed upon by the Association and the District. In subsequent years during the life of this Agreement, supplements shall be issued. The cost of printing shall be shared equally between the District and the Association.

### H. Association Rights and Responsibilities

# 1. Posting and Bulletin Board Rights

The Association or its official representatives shall have the right of access and use of bulletin boards in the various rooms or places designated for faculty use in the Tahoma School District. All posted materials shall be dated and signed by the responsible Association member.

## 2. School Mail Rights

The Association or its official representative shall have reasonable access to and use of the school mail and e-mail systems in the Tahoma School District with the approval of the Superintendent. All materials shall be dated and signed by the responsible Association member. Use of District mail systems is subject to all laws and policies regarding appropriate use and public disclosure.

# 3. Building Use

The Association may use District school buildings for meetings and to transact official business on school grounds at all reasonable times outside the regular school day with the approval of the Superintendent.

# 4. Right to Organize Classes and Workshops

Certificated staff members in the Tahoma School District shall have the right to organize and carry out workshops and classes. These workshops and classes may be held on school property, whether these courses are for college credit, in-service District credit, or for noncredit. Upon parental permission, students and/or their parents may be involved in these workshops and classes. Any classes or workshops will not interfere with the normal school day activities or any other scheduled sanctioned activities. The District has the right to require a reasonable rental for the use of school district facilities.

#### 5. Dues and Fee Deductions

The District shall deduct from the salary of each employee who submits written authorization either the dues required for union membership or a representation fee if the employee chooses to support the Association's activities without membership. Such dues shall be transmitted to the Association monthly. The Association shall hold the District harmless from any liability caused by the administration of this section, including the cost of defense for any claims related to the same.

#### 6. Access to Staff

Any authorized representative of the Association shall have the right to visit District buildings, employees or groups of employees of the bargaining unit, as long as such visits do not interfere with District operations or the employee's execution of the employee's duties. Such authorized representative will comply with any current check-in procedures when entering the building.

### 7. Access to New Employees

The District will provide the Association reasonable access to new employees of the bargaining unit for the purposes of presenting information about their exclusive bargaining representative to the new employee. The presentation may occur during a new employee orientation provided by the District, or at another time mutually agreed to by the District and Association. No employee may be mandated to attend the meetings or presentations by the Association. "Reasonable access" for the purposes of this section means: (a) The access to the new employee occurs within ninety days of the employee's start date within the bargaining unit; (b) The access is for no less than thirty minutes; and (c) The access occurs during the new employee's regular work hours at the employee's regular worksite, or at a location mutually agreed to by the District and Association.

#### 8. Access to Member Information

On or before new employee orientation in August each year during the term of this Agreement, the District shall provide the Association with the following information regarding each employee in the bargaining unit: Name, address, position, hire date, work site and FTE (and any other information necessary to process and track membership). This information shall be supplemented and revised monthly as changes occur through the personnel report from Board meetings provided to the Association president or designee.

#### I. No Strike/No Lock-Out

The Association agrees that during the term of this Agreement, it will not cause or encourage its members to engage in any strike or other work stoppage. The District agrees it will not lock-out its employees during the term of this Agreement.

# J. Rights of the Board

The Board and the Association recognize that the Board has certain powers and duties that under the Constitution and Laws of the state of Washington may not be delegated, limited, or abrogated by an agreement with any party.

It is the intention of the parties hereto that all rights, powers, prerogatives, duties, and authority of the Board are retained by the Board except for those which are specifically abridged or modified by this Agreement. Such abridgment or modification will be to the extent specifically set forth in this Agreement and such abridgments or modifications are to be strictly construed.

### K. Subcontracting

The District will negotiate pursuant to the duty imposed by RCW 41.59 and rules of OSPI prior to subcontracting any bargaining unit work. This section shall not apply to subcontracting with other state-supported educational institutions.

#### L. Duration and Commitment

We are committed to the belief in a collaborative process as embodied in this agreement.

This agreement shall become effective September 1, 2024, and shall continue in effect through August 31, 2026. During the duration of this Agreement the parties mutually agree to resolve problems and address concerns that arise. The parties commit to continue a collaborative process to meet the interest and resolve problems identified by the parties.

Contingent on two (2) levy collections in each year, the District will continue the compensation for the Professional Learning and Enrichment Contract. In the event of a double levy failure, the District and the Association agree to meet prior to implementing a reduction to the PLE contract. The purpose for this meeting is for the District and the Association to establish a process and timeline to review the extent of the projected

### **Article IX – Terms of the Agreement**

financial losses, to explore options, to discuss financial information and projections, to consider potential impacts on programs and employees, to identify any appropriate actions, and to develop any practical ways to mitigate adverse impacts on District educational programs.

We shall monitor the progress made toward achieving the collaborative building decision-making models through the use of action research, surveys and research on readiness of buildings to undertake change. We will mutually agree on criteria for measuring readiness for change and we will provide that criteria to building staff for their consideration. When a building believes that it is ready to address compensation issues it will notify the Association and District. Information, guidance and findings will be shared with buildings as the building determines its ability to implement the changes identified in this Agreement.

This Agreement shall reopen upon written request by either party to consider the impact of newly legislated and/or state-funded programs. Additionally, this Agreement may be reopened at any time during its term upon mutual written consent of the District and the Association.

# **ADDENDA**

Addendum 1: 2024-25 Salary Schedule

	Step	BA	BA+45	BA+90	MA	MA+45	MA+90/PhD
Base		\$61,619	\$64,084	\$66,647	\$69,313	\$72,086	\$74,969
PLE	0	\$7,810	\$8,123	\$8,448	\$8,785	\$9,137	\$9,502
Total		\$69,429	\$72,207	\$75,095	\$78,098	\$81,223	\$84,471
Base		\$62,851	\$65,365	\$67,980	\$70,699	\$73,527	\$76,468
PLE	1	\$7,966	\$8,285	\$8,616	\$8,961	\$9,320	\$9,692
Total		\$70,817	\$73,650	\$76,596	\$79,660	\$82,847	\$86,160
Base		\$64,108	\$66,673	\$69,340	\$72,113	\$74,998	\$77,998
PLE	2	\$8,126	\$8,451	\$8,789	\$9,140	\$9,506	\$9,886
Total		\$72,234	\$75,124	\$78,129	\$81,253	\$84,504	\$87,884
Base		\$65,390	\$68,006	\$70,726	\$73,556	\$76,498	\$79,558
PLE	3	\$8,288	\$8,620	\$8,965	\$9,323	\$9,696	\$10,084
Total		\$73,678	\$76,626	\$79,691	\$82,879	\$86,194	\$89,642
Base		\$66,698	\$69,366	\$72,141	\$75,027	\$78,028	\$81,149
PLE	4	\$8,454	\$8,792	\$9,144	\$9,510	\$9,890	\$10,286
Total		\$75,152	\$78,158	\$81,285	\$84,537	\$87,918	\$91,435
Base		\$68,032	\$70,754	\$73,584	\$76,527	\$79,588	\$82,772
PLE	5	\$8,623	\$8,968	\$9,327	\$9,700	\$10,088	\$10,491
Total		\$76,655	\$79,722	\$82,911	\$86,227	\$89,676	\$93,263
Base		\$69,393	\$72,169	\$75,055	\$78,058	\$81,180	\$84,427
PLE	6	\$8,796	\$9,147	\$9,513	\$9,894	\$10,290	\$10,701
Total		\$78,189	\$81,316	\$84,568	\$87,952	\$91,470	\$95,128
Base		\$70,780	\$73,612	\$76,557	\$79,619	\$82,804	\$86,116
PLE	7	\$8,971	\$9,330	\$9,704	\$10,092	\$10,495	\$10,915
Total		\$79,751	\$82,942	\$86,261	\$89,711	\$93,299	\$97,031
Base		\$72,196	\$75,084	\$78,088	\$81,211	\$84,460	\$87,838
PLE	8	\$9,151	\$9,517	\$9,898	\$10,293	\$10,705	\$11,133
Total		\$81,347	\$84,601	\$87,986	\$91,504	\$95,165	\$98,971
Base		\$73,640	\$76,586	\$79,649	\$82,835	\$86,149	\$89,595
PLE	9	\$9,334	\$9,707	\$10,096	\$10,499	\$10,919	\$11,356
Total		\$82,974	\$86,293	\$89,745	\$93,334	\$97,068	\$100,951
Base		\$76,690	\$79,758	\$82,948	\$86,266	\$89,716	\$93,305
PLE	10	\$9,720	\$10,109	\$10,514	\$10,934	\$11,372	\$11,826
Total		\$86,410	\$89,867	\$93,462	\$97,200	\$101,088	\$105,131
Base			\$83,060	\$86,383	\$89,838	\$93,432	\$97,169
PLE	11		\$10,528	\$10,949	\$11,387	\$11,843	\$12,316
Total			\$93,588	\$97,332	\$101,225	\$105,275	\$109,485

Addendum 1: 2024-25 Salary Schedule

	Step	BA	BA+45	BA+90	MA	MA+45	MA+90/PhD
Base			\$86,500	\$89,960	\$93,559	\$97,301	\$101,193
PLE	12		\$10,964	\$11,402	\$11,859	\$12,333	\$12,826
Total			\$97,464	\$101,362	\$105,418	\$109,634	\$114,019
Base				\$93,685	\$97,433	\$101,330	\$105,383
PLE	13			\$11,875	\$12,350	\$12,844	\$13,357
Total				\$105,560	\$109,783	\$114,174	\$118,740
Base				\$97,565	\$101,468	\$105,526	\$109,748
PLE	14			\$12,366	\$12,861	\$13,375	\$13,911
Total				\$109,931	\$114,329	\$118,901	\$123,659
Base				\$103,419	\$107,556	\$111,858	\$116,332
PLE	15			\$13,108	\$13,633	\$14,178	\$14,745
Total				\$116,527	\$121,189	\$126,036	\$131,077
Base		\$76,690	\$86,500	\$103,419	\$107,556	\$111,858	\$116,332
PLE	20.	\$9,720	\$10,964	\$13,108	\$13,633	\$14,178	\$14,745
Longevity	20+	\$4,000	\$4,000	\$4,000	\$4,000	\$4,000	\$4,000
Total		\$90,410	\$101,464	\$120,527	\$125,189	\$130,036	\$135,077

**Addendum 2: Activity Salary Schedules** 

High School (9-12)					
Position		Stipend	Postseason		
Annual		\$3,873	NA		
Instrumental Music		\$10,000	NA		
Vocal Music		\$10,000	NA		
Color Guard		\$2,500	NA		
Debate Head		\$5,662	\$2,428		
Debate Assistant		\$4,249	\$1,822		
Journalism/Newspaper		\$3,873	NA		
Marching Band		\$3,300	NA		
Marching Band Assistant		\$2,475	NA		
Math Team		\$1,428	NA		
Musical – Drama Director* (spring)		\$5,749	NA		
Musical – Music Director		\$5,031	NA		
Pep Band	\$2,500		NA		
Percussion		\$2,500	NA		
Play – Drama Director* (fall)		\$4,791	NA		
Robotics Head - FRC		\$5,662	\$2,428		
Robotics Assistant - FRC		\$4,249	\$1,822		
STEP Project		\$2,040	NA		
We the People		\$5,662 \$2,428			
*Additional monies will be allocated for example, set design & construction, costuments of the construction of the constructio			ncluding but not limited to, for		
Fall Production (Play)	\$3,000	-			
Winter Production (alternates annually)	If a play, use the figure above. If a musical, use the figure below.				
Spring Production (Musical)	\$6,000	\$6,000			

Middle School (6-8)				
Position	Stipend	Postseason		
Activity Coordinator	\$3,853	N/A		
Annual	\$3,199	N/A		
Instrumental Music	\$5,800	N/A		
Vocal Music	\$5,800	N/A		
Musical – Drama Director* (spring)	\$4,369	N/A		
Play – Drama Director*	\$3,833	NA		
Robotics Head - FLL	\$2,040	\$877		
Robotics Assistant – FLL	\$1,530	\$660		
Robotics Head - FTC	\$3,400	\$1,458		
Robotics Assistant – FTC	\$2,550	\$1,093		

<sup>\*\$7,116</sup> will be allocated for classified support including but not limited to the following: Music Director, Costume Design, Set Design, Choreography, Rehearsal Accompanist, and Assistant Director. The drama director(s) will propose to the principal the allocation of the support resources to support each year's production prior to the initiation of the production.

# **Addendum 2: Activity Salary Schedules**

Elementary (K-5)	
Position	Stipend
Music Specialist	\$2,720

# **Addendum 3: Supplemental Contracts for District Leadership (Non-Indexed)**

**Addendum 3: Supplemental Contracts for District Leadership (Non-Indexed)** 

Position	Days Per Diem	Rate	Comments
Section 504 Coordinator		\$75	Per plan
Advanced Placement Coordinator		\$1,020	
Chemical Hygiene Officer		\$250	
Dean of Students	20		Per FTE
EEP Holiday/Break Supervisor		\$2,367	Annual
EEP Site Supervisor		\$5,000	
EEP Summer Site Supervisor		\$10,000	
Elementary Counselors/Social Workers	3		
Elementary Drama		\$2,040	Per elementary school
Elementary Honor Band		\$1,500	Per elementary school
Elementary Honor Choir		\$1,500	Per elementary school
MLL Coordinator	10		
GLAD Trainer		\$680	
Librarian Elementary	5		Full days per school location
Librarian Middle School	7		Full days per school location
Librarian High School	10		Full days per school location
National Board Candidate Leader		\$2,720	
Nurse	2		
Preschool Coordinator	10		
Psychologists	10		Prorated to FTE
Secondary Counselor	10		Per FTE
Secondary Head Counselor	10		Per FTE (5 add'l; 15 total)
Site Prevention Program Coordinator		\$2,720	Four (4) total district wide
Theater Manager		\$16,321	

# **Addendum 4: Supplemental Contracts for District Leadership (Indexed)**

# **Addendum 4: Supplemental Contracts for District Leadership (Indexed)**

Stipends in Addendum 4 will be indexed each school year to the state's inflationary adjustment index.

2024-25 school year

Position	Days Per Diem	Rate	Comments
Camp Casey Assistant Director		\$3,905	
Camp Casey Attendee		\$520	Per session
Camp Casey Counselor Coordinator		\$1,041	
Camp Casey Director		\$7,809	
Camp Casey Overnight Supervisor		\$130	Per session
District Drug and Alcohol Prevention Coordinator	5	\$7,809	
District Library Chairperson		\$2,603	
Gifted Coordinator	8	\$5,206	
Nurse Coordinator	15	\$1,338	
Reading Coordinator		\$4,458	
Special Education Coordinator	20	\$4,458	
Summer School Coordinator		\$7,809	
THS Activity Coordinator		\$17,834	
Future Ready Specialist (2)	10		
Wellness Coordinator	20		

# **Addendum 5: Grievance Form**



# **Tahoma Education Association**

PO Box 184 Maple Valley, WA 98038

# Official Grievance - Complaint by the Aggrieved

Aggrieved Person(s):
Work Phone(s):
School:
Supervisor(s) Against Whom Grievance is Filed:
Association Grievance Representative:
UniServ Representative:
Statement of Grievance:
On (date) the Tahoma School District violated the Collective Bargaining  Agreement when
in violation of Article, and any other that may apply.  Article Section states that:
Relief Sought:  To make the grievant(s) whole by
in compliance with the CBA and any other remedy that may be deemed fair and appropriate by ar arbitrator.
Signature of the Aggrieved Date

# Addendum 6: Professional Goals Form – Comprehensive

# Tahoma School District #409 FALL CONFERENCE FORM

# **Comprehensive Evaluation**

Employee Name:	Sch. Yr.:
Current Position:	Location:
members in the Tahoma School District. The staff me	amodate the professional enrichment and growth of staff ember, colleague and supervisor will work together to oals. Plans should clearly articulate how accomplishment
Complete a self-evaluation on the TPEP rubric prior to	the conference.
What areas did you identify as strengths on your self-a	ssessment? Name specific components from the rubric.
What growth areas did you identify on your self-assess on this year?	ement? What specific components do you want to focus
What will you use as evidence of growth in the areas y	ou identified?
What support, resources, and/or training will help supp	oort growth for you and your students?
Signature/date	Signature/date

# Addendum 7: Professional Goals Form – Focused or PDP

# Tahoma School District #409 GOAL FORM

# Professional Development Plan: Focused or PDP

Employee Name:	Sch. Yr.:
Current Position:	Location:
members in the Tahoma School District. The staff	ommodate the professional enrichment and growth of staff member, colleague and supervisor will work together to e goals. Plans should clearly articulate how accomplishment
State Criterion selected:	
What are the reasons you selected that criterion?	
What are your goals within that criterion?	
What is your plan of action for achieving those goals	s? Who, what, where, when, how?
What will you use as evidence of achievement of yo	our goals?
What support, resources, and/or training will help yo	ou achieve your goals?
Signature/date	Signature/date

# **Addendum 8: Comprehensive Evaluation Form**

# **Addendum 8: Comprehensive Evaluation Form**

Employee	mployee Name:				Sch. Yr.:			
Current P	rrent Position:				Location:			
						So	core (1-4)	
	Criterion 1	Centering	g instruction on high ex	pectation	s for student ac	hievement		
	Criterion 2	Demonst	rating effective teachin	g practice	es s			
	Criterion 3	-	zing individual student less to address those needs	_	needs and devel	oping		
	Criterion 4	Providing curriculu	g clear and intentional f m	ocus on s	ubject matter c	ontent and		
	Criterion 5	Fostering	g and managing a safe, j	positive le	earning environ	ment		
	Criterion 6		Using multiple student data elements to modify instruction and improve student learning					
	Criterion 7		Communicating and collaborating with parents and school community					
	Criterion 8	Exhibiting collaborative and collegial practices focused on improving instructional practice and student learning						
			OSPI Approved Sum	mative S	coring Band			
	8 – 14	4	15 – 21	2	2 - 28	29 - 32		
L	1 - Unsatisf	factory	2 - Basic	3 - I	Proficient	4 - Distinguis	hed	
	Overall Criterion Score:							
		OSPI Ap	proved Student Grow	th Impac	t Rating Scori	ng Band		
	5 –	12	13 – 17			18 - 20		
	La	)W	Average	High		High		

90

Overall Rating: \_\_\_\_\_ (see matrix on back)

Summative Rating & Impact on Student Learning Matrix				
	Distinguished	Proficient Rating Student Growth Inquiry	Distinguish	ned Rating
Summative Rating	Proficient	Proficient Rating Student Growth Inquiry	Proficien	t Rating
Summa	Basic	Basic Rating Student Growth Inquiry	Basic I	Rating
	Unsatisfactory		sfactory Ration of Improvement	ng
Consequences as a result of Intersection between Summative Rating and Impact on Student Learning Rating		Low	Average	High
		Impact on	Student Lear	ning

# **Addendum 9: ESA Formal Observation Form**

# Tahoma School District #409 Standards for Quality Professional Practice Addendum 9: ESA Formal Observation Form

Employee Name:  Current Position:  Observation Date/Time:		Sch. Yr.:				
		Location: Activity/Lesson:				
	KNOWLEDGE AND SCHOLARSHIP IN SPECIALIZED FIELD					
* * * *	Demonstrates knowledge of the principles of human growth and development, and remains current in content, theory, practice and research related to the field.  Exhibits the ability to explain child developmental concepts and serve as a resource of information for other school personnel.  Relates and applies knowledge, research findings and theory to develop a program of services.  Demonstrates a strong knowledge of designing practices within the education system to meet the special needs of individual students.					
	MANAGEMENT OF THE SPECIAL AND TECHNICAL ENVIRONMENT					
•	Selects and recommends assessment materials, resource materials, and equipment appropriate to student needs.  Demonstrates a broad knowledge of resource and assessment materials, including both standardized and non-standardized. Insures that the proper application and interpretation of such assessments.  Protects student and family information as mandated by federal and state regulations and consistently meets statutory requirements.					
	INVOLVEMENT IN ASSISTING PUPILS, PARENTS, AND EDUCATIONAL PERSONNEL					
* * *	Plans and implements a program to serve the needs of the school population, and the special needs of individual students.  Initiates and/or follows through on recommendations for counseling groups and other support services to meet the special needs of individual students.  Consults with appropriate District staff members concerning the development, coordination and/or extension of services to those needing specialized programs.  Effectively leads meetings and discussions to determine the delivery of services to students when needed.  Responds promptly to requests for support and concerns expressed by other support and instructional staff members.  Develops good relationships with parents and community by					
•	working constructively with them to improve the educational program for individual and groups of students  Presents the school's program to the public when opportunities are available in a professional manner.					

# **Addendum 9: ESA Formal Observation Form**

Page 2

		Problem Area	Approaches Standard	Meets/Exceeds Standard	Not Observed at this time
	SPECIALIZED SKILLS				
in p      In     e     P     a     A     se     n	Designs and conducts a structured guidance or other specific instructional program addressing the identified academic, ersonal/social, and career needs of students as applicable. Instructional goals and behavioral expectations are clear and effective. Provides guidance and inservice to other staff members as appropriate to support District Outcomes and Indicators. Accesses and mobilizes partnerships with other educational and ocial agencies to support the needs of students and families as eeded.				
iı ♦ A	Assists instructional staff and administrators to utilize specialized information into the regular curricular program.  Administers assessment procedures or organizes and assists those who will administer assessment procedures.				
	PROFESSIONALISM				
a a	desponds to parent and staff questions and concerns in an appropriate and timely manner. Actively seeks opportunities for professional development to inhance knowledge and skills related to the services provided. Utilizes peer and supervisor feedback to refine and shape practices. Discusses problems, new ideas, gives & receives feedback respecting and accepting various viewpoints.  Meets all contractual responsibilities in a professional manner and remonstrates a strong commitment to the students served and to the profession.  Implements an effective system for managing timelines and aperwork associated with the profession.  Demonstrates an awareness of one's professional strengths and mitations by efforts to improve or enhance competence through a arriety of professional development opportunities.				
empl	signature below does not necessarily imply that the emoyee has seen and discussed it with the evaluator and ment.		-		-
Emp	loyee Signature		Date		
Eval	uator Signature		Date		
Emp	loyee Statement Attached? Yes No				

THIS FORM IS TO BE KEPT IN THE ADMINISTRATOR'S WORKING FILE FOR A MAXIMUM OF 3 YEARS.

# Tahoma School District #409 Standards for Quality Professional Practice Addendum 10: ESA Evaluation Form

Employee Name:	Sch.	. Yr.:		
Current Position:	Loc	ation:		
	Problem Area	Approaches Standard	Meets/Exceeds Standard	Not Observed At This Time
KNOWLEDGE AND SCHOLARSHIP IN SPECIALIZED FIELD				
<ul> <li>Demonstrates knowledge of the principles of human growth and development, and remains current in content, theory, practice and research related to the field.</li> <li>Exhibits the ability to explain child developmental concepts and serve as a resource of information for other school personnel.</li> <li>Relates and applies knowledge, research findings and theory to develop a program of services.</li> <li>Demonstrates a strong knowledge of designing practices within the education system to meet the special needs of individual students.</li> </ul>				
MANAGEMENT OF THE SPECIAL AND TECHNICAL ENVIRONMENT				
<ul> <li>Selects and recommends assessment materials, resource materials, and equipment appropriate to student needs.</li> <li>Demonstrates a broad knowledge of resource and assessment materials, including both standardized and non-standardized. Insures that the proper application and interpretation of such assessments.</li> <li>Protects student and family information as mandated by federal and state regulations and consistently meets statutory requirements.</li> </ul>				
INVOLVEMENT IN ASSISTING PUPILS, PARENTS, AND EDUCATIONAL PERSONNEL				
<ul> <li>Plans and implements a program to serve the needs of the school population, and the special needs of individual students.</li> <li>Initiates and/or follows through on recommendations for counseling groups and other support services to meet the special needs of individual students.</li> <li>Consults with appropriate District staff members concerning the development, coordination and/or extension of services to those needing specialized programs.</li> <li>Effectively leads meetings and discussions to determine the delivery of services to students when needed.</li> <li>Responds promptly to requests for support and concerns expressed by other support and instructional staff members.</li> <li>Develops good relationships with parents and community by working constructively with them to improve the educational program for individual and groups of students</li> <li>Presents the school's program to the public when opportunities are available in a professional manner.</li> </ul>				

# Addendum 10: ESA Evaluation Form Page 2

		Problem Area	Approaches Standard	Meets/Exceeds Standard	Not Observed At This Time
	SPECIALIZED SKILLS				
•	Designs and conducts a structured guidance or other specific instructional program addressing the identified academic, personal/social, and career needs of students as applicable.  Instructional goals and behavioral expectations are clear and effective.				
•	Provides guidance and inservice to other staff members as appropriate to support District Outcomes and Indicators.  Accesses and mobilizes partnerships with other educational and social agencies to support the needs of students and families as needed.				
•	Assists instructional staff and administrators to utilize specialized information into the regular curricular program.  Administers assessment procedures or organizes and assists those who will administer assessment procedures.				
_	PROFESSIONALISM  Property of the first state of the state				
•	Responds to parent and staff questions and concerns in an appropriate and timely manner.  Actively seeks opportunities for professional development to enhance knowledge and skills related to the services provided.  Utilizes peer and supervisor feedback to refine and shape practices.  Discusses problems, new ideas, gives & receives feedback respecting and accepting various viewpoints.  Meets all contractual responsibilities in a professional manner and demonstrates a strong commitment to the students served and to the profession.  Implements an effective system for managing timelines and paperwork associated with the profession.  Demonstrates an awareness of one's professional strengths and limitations by efforts to improve or enhance competence through a variety of professional development opportunities.				
em sta	e signature below does not necessarily imply that the employee has seen and discussed it with the evaluator an tement.	d has been	n provided a	copy. Employee	may attach a
En	nployee Signature		Date		
Ev	aluator Signature		Date		
En	nployee Statement Attached?				

# Addendum 11: Verification of Completion of One Year of PDP Form

# **Addendum 11: Verification of Completion of One Year of PDP Form**

# VERIFICATION OF COMPLETION OF ONE YEAR OF PDP

Employee Name:	Sch. Yr.:
Current Position:	Location:
This verifies that the staff member has completed one been completed.	e year on PDP and a year-end conference has
Employee Signature	Date
Evaluator Signature	Date

To be completed and forwarded to Human Resources.

# Addendum 12: Verification of Completion of One Year on Focused

# Addendum 12: Verification of Completion of One Year on Focused

# FOCUSED EVALUATION FORM

**Tahoma School District #409** 

Employee Name:		Sch. Yr.:	
		Location:	
Student Growth	While there is no student rubric will trigger a stud	t growth impact, a rating of 1 on any student growth ent growth inquiry.	
Overall Rating	An overall rating is assigned using the summative score from the most recent comprehensive evaluation. This score becomes the focused summative evaluation score for any of the subsequent years following the comprehensive summative evaluation in which the classroom teacher is placed on a focused evaluation. Should a teacher provide evidence of exemplary practice on the chosen focused criterion, a level 4 (Distinguished) score may be awarded by the evaluator.		
	Overall	Rating	
	Distinguished		
	Proficient		
	Basic		
	Unsatisfactory		

# **Addendum 13: Curriculum Review and Documentation Process**

**Addendum 13: Curriculum Review and Documentation Process** 

	Activity	Responsibility		
A.	Examine data to prioritize needs to include but not limited to:  1. Curriculum alignment with state and district standards;  2. Scope and sequence across grade levels; and  3. Student achievement and growth	T&L		
B.	Meet with grade level / content area leads to review data and outline process.	T&L		
C.	Seek staff input and identify lead teachers and special education representatives who will serve on committee to review resources	T&L and Principals		
D.	Review resources and develop a work plan to create the District curriculum. Guidance on use of purchased and District developed resources will be provided through pacing guides, implementation frameworks, and unit overviews.  T&L and Lead Teachers			
E.	Resource adoption will follow district process as outlined in District Policy and Procedure 2020.			
F.	If units are being developed and published by T&L collaboratively with Tahoma teachers the process will include:  1. Identification of outcomes and core skills for the unit;  2. Outline of the unit including lessons, activities, concepts/skills, district and/or state standards;  3. Assignment of lessons to be authored by lead teachers;  4. Write lessons;  5. Submit lessons to T&L for review, editing, and feedback;  6. Confirm revisions with lead writers; and  7. Publish to T&L district curriculum platform	T&L and Lead Teachers		
G.	Common assessments will be developed to monitor student achievement and growth.  T&L and Lead Teachers			
Н.	Implementation of new curriculum will include a structure for teachers to provide feedback. Review of teacher feedback and student achievement and growth data will be used to inform curriculum revisions.  T&L and Lead  Teachers			

# **Addendum 14: Decision-Making Matrix**

School:	Most:	%	Date adopted:	
Decisions pre-printed on this chart cannot be changed. The building	g shall determine who	1 ′	C	sion-making authority where

Decisions pre-printed on this chart cannot be changed. The building shall determine who has input, recommending or decision-making authority where the chart is blank. The building has the autonomy, within the scope of the building's contractual and legal authority, to add topics through a consensus process.

TOPIC	INPUT	RECOMMENDATION	DECISION
August Days- Schedule and Content			Principal
Budget - Building Budget (MSOC)			
Budget - Activities Money (Article II.F.1)			
Budget - Leadership Money (Article II.F.3)			
Building Daily Schedule*	All Affected Staff		
Calendar - Open House, Finals, Staff Meetings			
Consensus Hours- Schedule and Content			
Discipline Plan and Sanction Charts		Ad Hoc Citizens Committee	School Board
Early Release Time for PD Schedule (Article II.B.10)			
Grade Level Assignments (elementary)			Principal
Hiring		Principal	School Board
Master Schedule (secondary)			Principal
New Courses (secondary)			School Board
Room Assignments			Principal
School Safety Plan		<b>Building Safety Committee</b>	Principal
Site Plan		Instructional Leadership Team	School Board
Staff Meetings - Planning of Content			

<sup>\*</sup> The overall model of the daily schedule will be set by the School Board. Schools may adjust at the building level within that model taking into consideration the needs of shared staff. See Article II.E.

### **Addendum 15: Career & Technical Education Extended Days**

# **Addendum 15: Career & Technical Education Extended Days**

## Career & Technical Education Extended Days (High School).

- A. Each CTE teacher will receive one (1) extended day for basic CTE functions including completing reports and managing frameworks.
- B. A member of each program area will receive one (1) extended day to attend advisory meetings and perform advisory duties. Program members may choose to divide this day.
- C. CTE staff members will receive extended days for maintaining equipment/programs. The number of days will range from zero to five (5) days. This number will be established with the CTE Director and will remain consistent from year to year until there is a change in program.
- D. Each CTE program must have a Career and Technical Student Organization (CTSO) or local level club in order to operate as an approved CTE course. The advisor(s) of each framework-identified club will be eligible to receive up to a total of ten (10) extended days per club. This pay is for leadership activities aligned with the curriculum outside of the contract day. Club leadership days may be divided among staff members within a program to reflect additional staff member's involvement in the leadership organization. Each fall, the CTE Director will meet with each program to establish their hourly need and how the hours will be completed.
- E. Teachers operating district-approved retail operations will receive zero (0) to five (5) extended days. These days will be determined and allocated based on the fall program meeting.
- F. The CTE Director may issue additional days for special projects which will include, but are not limited to the following, (paid on SR form).
  - 1. If students from the CTSO qualify for the national competition, the advisor will receive up to six (6) extended days.
  - 2. When new courses are approved the CTE Director will collaborate with teachers to ensure the initial frameworks are written.
  - 3. Ordering start-up equipment for a new program

### **Career & Technical Education Extended Days (Middle School).**

A. There will be a "lead" CTE teacher to manage the frameworks for each course offered. This lead teacher will receive one (1) extended day for basic CTE functions including completing reports and managing frameworks.

## **Addendum 15: Career & Technical Education Extended Days**

- B. The Robotics Club will serve as the CTE Leadership Club requirement. The CTE teacher(s) will consult with the club advisor. Middle School Activity Stipends (Addendum 2) will compensate the advisor of this club since no extended days are provided for this responsibility.
- C. CTE staff members will receive extended days for maintaining equipment/programs. The number of days will range from zero (0) to five (5) days. This number will be established with the CTE Director and will remain consistent from year to year until there is a change in program.
  - 1. The bulk of the responsibility is ordering consumable materials. One half-day will be provided for each different class title taught. No extended days are provided for maintaining computers and printers.
- D. The CTE Director may issue additional days for special projects which will include, but are not limited to the following, (paid on SR form).
  - 1. If students from the CTSO qualify for the national competition, the advisor will receive up to six (6) extended days.
  - 2. When new courses are approved the CTE Director will collaborate with teachers to ensure the initial frameworks are written.
  - 3. Ordering start-up equipment for a new program

## Addendum 16: Teaching & Learning Department Support Staff Extended Days

# Addendum 16: Teaching & Learning Department Support Staff Extended Days

Teaching & Learning department support staff extended days are in addition to the 183 contract days, not an extension of one of the 183 days. Teaching and Learning extended days are intended to support additional time where T&L certificated staff are playing a role in leadership, facilitation, training, or development work during school breaks. Review of the extended day general allocation model will happen if there are shifts in the annual work of department members due to model changes, department reorganization, or priority shifts. Allocation of some extended days will be made in the spring based on prioritized summer work for that year, and may be compensated on services rendered. The T&L Executive Director will review the assignment of extended days made in the spring with T&L staff by role and/or individually.

In the Teaching and Learning Department work plans and focus change each year. While currently there are repeating needs that seem consistent year-to-year, there are also variables that create change. T&L Support Staff will meet with the Executive Director each June to discuss a plan for extended days to ensure completion of the priority work needed in the department. The following outlines anticipated tasks and days allocated. This allocation is proportional if the staff member is less than full time T&L FTE. Additional days may be allocated by the Executive Director of Teaching and Learning in a given year for specialized activities. The total extended day allocation must stay within budget parameters.

Content Coach 15 days	Building Coach 15 days	Assessment Specialist 15 days
<ul> <li>ELT summer retreat</li> <li>New teacher training</li> <li>New teacher support</li> <li>Summer Conference (PLC or TSD)</li> <li>Curriculum revisions, pacing, collections of evidence, content team facilitation</li> <li>Year-end and fast start data facilitation and examining impact</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>ELT summer retreat</li> <li>New teacher training</li> <li>New teacher support</li> <li>Summer Conference (PLC or TSD)</li> <li>Building leadership retreat planning and delivery</li> <li>Support of building administrators in design and development of August PD</li> <li>Year-end and fast start data facilitation and examining impact</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>ELT summer retreat</li> <li>New teacher training</li> <li>New teacher support</li> <li>Summer Conference (PLC or TSD)</li> <li>Prep of growth and achievement data</li> <li>Assessment development support and coordination with content teams</li> <li>Year-end and fast start data facilitation and examining impact</li> </ul>
	examining impact	

### **Specialized Activities** (including but not limited to)

- Parent and student engagement for below grade and above grade learners
- K assessment coordination
- K Camp
- Technology operations coordination
- Curriculum and assessment design and development
- New curriculum roll-out
- Professional development specific to an initiative

LETTERS OF AGREEMENT

# Letter of Agreement 2024-25 and 2025-26 Agreements

The District and Association agree as follows:

- 1. The District and Association agree to review the job descriptions and stipend amounts for all positions on Addendums 2, 3, and 4 during the 2024-25 school year, and make changes that would include increases not to exceed a total of \$25,000 including mandatory employer taxes/benefits, retroactive to the beginning of the year. Contingent on job description completion, an additional \$25,000 including mandatory employer taxes/benefits may be added for the 2025-26 school year, retroactive to the beginning of the year. The parties may add new positions where there is agreement that certificated work is needed and remove any non-certificated positions from the Addendums.
- 2. The District and Association agree to maintain the current contract language and practice of using the 2017-18 Washington Administrative Code and S-275 rules for salary schedule placement with the exception that a non-degreed CTE teacher who earns an educational degree shall not be placed lower than previously placed using the rules for non-degreed employees. The parties agree to collaboratively review the current rules for salary schedule placement and present a final report to the District and Association bargaining teams prior to the start of bargaining in the spring of 2026.

10 1114 01014 01 041 B411112 111 1114 111112 111	
TAHOMA EDUCATION ASSOCIATION	TAHOMA SCHOOL DISTRICT
Callie a Mordell	Sott After
Callie Nordell	Scott Mitohell
TEA President	Director of Human Resources
9/1/24 Date	9/1/24 Date
Date	Date - /

# Letter of Agreement ESA Evaluation Review

The District and Association shall jointly convene a committee to review and make recommendations for changes to ESA evaluation language and Addenda 10 and 11 in the current collective bargaining agreement. A final report will be provided to the District and Association no later than June 1, 2025, for consideration and potential implementation as an agreed change to the CBA effective in the 2025-26 school year.

TAHOMA EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

Callie Nordell
TEA President

Date

TAHOMA SCHOOL DISTRICT

Scott Mitchell
Director of Human Resources

Plate

Date

# Letter of Agreement Special Education Workload Provisions 2024-25

- 1. The District and Association shall form a task force to begin work no later than October 16, 2024, and to meet at least four times during the 2024-25 school year, to study and make recommendations regarding:
  - Assignment and amount of special education staffing resources;
  - Balancing of reasonable workloads based on district data and comparables;
  - A shared understanding of how to determine a reasonable workload for a special education teacher, i.e., case management, planning and delivery of SDI, collaboration with paraeducators, collaboration with general education educators, and inclusive services (including co-teaching and other models);
  - inclusionary practices including coaches and co-teaching as one potential option for inclusion; and
  - Any other mutually-agreed goal for improving the delivery of services to students.

The District and Association shall jointly appoint the appropriate number of members to fairly represent the different types and grade levels of special education teachers. The task force shall make recommendations to be implemented for the 2025-26 school year no later than spring break in the 2024-25 school year. Recommendations may be made earlier, and implemented earlier in the 2024-25 school year, if feasible. Reports shall be made back to Labor/Management team as a standing agenda item during the 2024-25 school year.

- 2. For the 2024-25 school year only, the stipend identified in Article II, Section F.4.c shall be increased by \$2,000 for each special education teacher (BIS, SAIL, and Resource). These financial resources shall be an available resource for the task force identified in paragraph 1 above to recommend be used in a similar or different way in the 2025-26 school year and beyond.
- 3. For the 2024-25 school year only, any special education teacher who is serving (providing educational services to) 50% or more students than the 20 or 10 IEPs on the staff member's caseload identified in Article V, Section A.2.c, shall meet with an administrator to collaboratively identify workload relief through such resources as release time, reallocation of paraeducator time, reallocation of caseload, additional per diem hours, additional training, and mentoring or coaching support.
- 4. While being studied by the task force in paragraph 1 above, teachers involved in a special education co-teaching model approved by the Special Education Director will be paid for up to 14 hours of additional time in consultation with the Special Education Director for partner teacher joint planning.

# **Special Education Workload Provisions 2024-25**

# TAHOMA EDUCATION ASSOCIATION Callie Nordell TEA President Output Callie Nordell TEA President Output Scott Mitchell Director of Human Resources Output Date Date